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completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of Tree Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is pleased
to announce the audited consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Annual Results”). This announcement
contains the full text of the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
and the contents were prepared in accordance with the relevant disclosure requirements
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The Annual Results have been
reviewed by the Board and the audit committee of the Board.

This results announcement is published on the websites of the Company (www.treeholdings.com)
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). The annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2022 will be delivered to shareholders of the
Company and will also be available at the abovementioned websites in due course.
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Hong Kong, 27 June 2022

As at the date of this announcement, the Board comprises Mr. TONG Tang Joseph, Ms. Mary Kathleen
BABINGTON, and Mr. TSUI Wing Tak as executive Directors; Mr. BIAN Dahai as non-executive Director
and Mr. YEUNG Man Chung Charles, Mr. TSANG Wai Yin, and Mr. SIT Hoi Wah Kenneth as the independent
non-executive Directors.

This announcement, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this announcement is accurate and complete in
all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this announcement misleading.

This announcement will remain on the GEM website at www.hkgem.com on the “Latest Listed Company
Announcements” page for at least 7 days from the date of its posting and on the Company’s website at
www.treeholdings.com.



CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small
and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may
he more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of TREE Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERE®E

To our Shareholders

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Our Group engages in (i) the sale, distribution and rental of furniture and home
accessories; (ii) the distribution and licensing of our intellectual property rights;
(iii) the operation of TREE Café at the Group’s flagship store in Hong Kong; (iv)
the provision of home accessories agency services; (v) the provision of styling
and consulting services; and (vi) the provision of consumer loan services.

After seventeen years of being established in Hong Kong, TREE Limited is one
of the leading lifestyle furniture and home furnishing companies in Hong Kong,
operating under the brand name “TREE".

Our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Hong Kong lItaliving International Co. Limited
(“Italiving”) and Shanghai Italiving International Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Italiving”) focus on the sourcing and distribution of high-end Italian furniture
made in lItaly. Italiving and Shanghai Italiving have offices in Hong Kong,
Shanghai and Italy to maintain a unique merchandising network with Italian
furniture manufacturers, and offer a wide variety of furniture products
to individuals and wholesale customers, as well as undertaking projects
throughout the People Republic of China (the “PRC"). In January 2022, we
acquired Super Easy Finance Limited (“Super Easy”) which is principally
engaged in the provision of consumer loan services.

The general market conditions and the operating environment continued to be
challenging in 2021/2022, impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. On behalf of
the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to present the annual report
of TREE Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together with
the Company (the “Group”)) for the year ended 31 March 2022 (“FY2022").

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For FY2022, the total revenue of the Group was approximately HK$95.9
million, a decrease of approximately HK$24.6 million, mainly attributable to a
decrease in commission income and a decrease in sale of furniture and home
accessories. The overall gross profit margin of the Group increased from
approximately 61.6% to 66.2%.

The economy and retail business in Hong Kong has been hard hit by the 5th
Wave of COVID-19. The drop of the Group's furniture agency services revenue
also impacted by the COVID-19 outbreak globally.

Amidst all these challenges, we are pleased to report that the Group has
recorded a profit for the year attributable to equity holders of HK$5.2 million,
which is HK$9.3 million or 64.1% lower than the last financial year of HK$14.6
million.

The Company does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
FY2022 (2021: HKO.8 cents per share).
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THE FUTURE

While | am writing this statement we are still operating within a challenging
environment globally due to the uncertainty of the COVID-19 situation. It is
therefore difficult, given the uncertainty to predict the market sentiment, and
our industry continues to be challenged with highly competitive retail market
conditions with many retailers relying on heavy discounting to generate
retail sales. However, we remain positive that the pandemic situation will
improve and this will be reflected in a more positive retail sentiment. We will
continue to take advantage of growth opportunities to improve our competitive
positioning.

THE FINAL NOTE

The Group is proud of the TREE brand that was founded in Hong Kong and
has grown with heart and integrity over the last seventeen years. Now, as a
much loved and trusted source of beautiful, high quality furniture and home
furnishings in Hong Kong, we are pleased to have expanded our business
to include an increasingly successful online business, a broader portfolio of
products and services as well as continuing to identify and maximise the
business opportunities.

On behalf of the Board, we would like to thank all TREE staff members, our
suppliers, partners and, of course, our customers for their continuous support of
TREE. We would also like to express our sincere thank you to all the scientists,
doctors, nurses and health-care professionals who have made incredible
sacrifices to fight against COVID-19.

Tong Tang Joseph
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
27 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Headquartered in Hong Kong, we engage in (i) the sale, distribution and rental
of furniture and home accessories which is operating under the brand name
“TREE"; (i) the distribution and licensing of our intellectual property rights of
“TREE"; (iii) the operation of TREE Café in our flagship store in Ap Lei Chau (the
“Flagship Store”); (iv) the provision of home accessories agency services;
(v) the provision of styling and consulting services; and (vi) the provision of
consumer loan services.

As at the date of this report, we operated two “TREE" retail stores in Hong
Kong namely, our Flagship Store and our Sha Tin store. We have commenced
online sales since May 2019. We offer a variety of (a) furniture including tables,
chairs, storage solutions, sofas and beds; and (b) home accessories including
kitchenware, bed and bathroom related products, jars, cushions, mattresses,
utensils and baskets.

In addition, we acquired lItaliving in December 2018, which is principally
engaged in the provision of furniture agency service in Hong Kong. Furthermore,
a subsidiary, Shanghai Italiving, was incorporated in July 2019, which is
principally engaged in the sale and distribution of furniture, and the provision of
styling and consulting services in the PRC. In January 2022, we acquired Super
Easy, which is principally engaged in the provision of consumer loan services.

During FY2022, we generated revenue from the (i) sale of furniture and home
accessories; (ii) distribution and license fee income; {iii) operation of TREE Café;
(iv) provision of home accessories agency services; (v) provision of styling and
consulting services; (vi) provision of furniture rental services; and (vii) provision
of consumer loan services. The table below sets forth a breakdown of our
revenue for FY2022 and for the year ended 31 March 2021 (“FY2021"):

BEER WA
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[TREE] %0 &8 22 20 85 K &F AT + (i) 72 65 A M £ 1L
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Year ended 31 March

BZE3ANBLEE

2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$"000 HK$'000
FET FET

Revenue from contracts with customers BEEAHWE
Sale of furniture and home accessaries FRERRERMHEE 80,910 97,321
Distribution and license fee income DI RFFAIEE R A 800 3,200
Food and beverage income Bk HmEA 3,818 2,964
Commission income el A 9,821 14,573
Consulting income A 511 2,493
95,860 120,551

Revenue from other sources H b 3R Ik &
Rental income el A 53 —
95,913 120,551
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

For FY2022, our revenue amounted to approximately HK$95.9 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$24.6 million or 20.4% from
approximately HK$120.6 million for FY2021. Such decrease was mainly
attributable to a decrease in sale of furniture and home accessories and a
decrease in commission income.

Sale of furniture and home accessories

TREE Limited primarily sells its products to (i) retail customers who visited our
retail stores; (i) customers who placed orders via our online platform being
the Direct Sales in Hong Kong; and {iii) our distributor in the PRC, being the
Distribution Sales. And during the year, Shanghai Italiving generate sales of
luxury Italian furniture to its customers in the PRC. The following table sets
forth a breakdown of our sale of furniture and home accessories for FY2022 and

R0 EE - HMH K =L /BIE B E
TC 202180 B FE 4912068 & 8 JT R D 49246
BEALN204%  TEEHANRERKREE
HEARMASKABDATE -

RERREERMEE

ABERARAEZHERETFINERMTE
EHZERF VB BRMANBEFETEE
MEF HESNEEEE: RNRMHFE
DHEE O HEEE  MRER - EBEEE
HAPREFPHEERES AFEE - TxREAT
202284 BUF 2 R 20218 U B M R1BE R K B B &

FY2021, respectively.

HERA:

Year ended 31 March

BZE3ANALEE
2022 2021
20224 20214F
% of total % of total
revenue from revenue from
sale of furniture sale of furniture
and home and home
Revenue accessories Revenue accessories
HEERE 1HHE RE
& RE & =l
FEN &) U 7
Wz Aot W & Bt
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FTERT Bt FET Bk
Direct Sales in Hong Kong EBNEEBHE
Retail store! ZE R0 70,403 81.0 68,980 70.8
Online sales and non-retail sales® 49 - $4& &
FTEHEN 3,659 45 5,597 5.8
Sub-total e 74,062 91.5 74,577 76.6
Distribution Sales DEHHEE 1,315 16 4,451 46
Sales via Shanghai ltaliving &EB L BEEXH
ETHE 5,533 6.9 18,293 188
Total 4ot 80,910 100.0 97,321 100.0
Notes: =3
1) Our retail stores include our Flagship Store and Sha Tin store. 0 ZEEREEEERDHIE -
(2) Our Yuen Long store ceased operation in mid-February 2021. (2) JTCEATE R2021F2 Ap iz 1k &
(3)  The distribution agreement with a PRC distributor expired in June 2021 and was  (3) BB 5 SH P Y 9 85 17 5 B 0202146 5 B -
not extended. WEERER -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

For FY2022, revenue generated from the Direct Sales was approximately
HK$74.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$0.5 million or
0.7% from approximately HK$74.6 million for FY2021.

For FY2022, revenue generated from the Distribution Sales amounted to
approximately HK$1.3 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$3.1
million or 70.5% from approximately HK$4.5 million for FY2021.

For FY2022, revenue generated from Shanghai Italiving amounted to
approximately HK$5.5 million for the sale of luxury Italian furniture to its PRC
customers, representing a decrease of approximately HK$12.8 million or 69.8%
from approximately HK$18.3 million for FY2021.

Distribution and license fee income

We entered into distribution agreements with our PRC distributor, and we were
entitled to receive annual non-refundable fees of HK$0.8 million and HK$2.4
million from our PRC distributor for the distribution of our products in Hainan
province and Beijing, the PRC, respectively. The distribution agreement expired
in June 2021 and was not extended.

The Group's distribution and license fee income therefore decreased from
HK$3.2 million for FY2021 to HK$0.8 million for FY2022.

Food and beverage income

The Group's food and beverage income generated from operating TREE Café
in our Flagship Store was approximately HK$3.8 million and HK$3.0 million
for FY2022 and FY2021, respectively. The increase was mainly due to more
customers visiting the Flagship Store for FY2022.

Commission income

The Group's commission income comprised income generated from (i) the
furniture agency service by Italiving and (i) the sale of consignment goods. The
decrease of approximately HK$4.8 million was mainly due to the drop of sales
from Italiving affecting by COVID-19 outbreak globally.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Consulting income

The Group's consulting income comprised income generated from
projects including the provision of styling advice, furniture proposals and
implementation services. During FY2022, the Group provided less styling and
consulting services to our PRC customers via Shanghai Italiving.

Rental income

The Group's rental income comprised income generated from the provision of
furniture rental services. The increase of approximately HK$53,000 was mainly
due to the new services during FY2022.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased to approximately HK$95.9 million for FY2022
from approximately HK$120.6 million for FY2021, representing a decrease
of approximately 20.4%. Such decrease was mainly due to a decrease in the
commission income and a decrease in sale of furniture and home accessories.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's overall gross profit decreased to approximately HK$63.5 million for
FY2022 from approximately HK$74.2 million for FY2021. The overall gross profit
margin raised to approximately 66.2% for FY2022 from approximately 61.6%
for FY2021.

The Group’s gross profit margin for the sale of furniture and home accessories
raised to approximately 62.7% for FY2022 and approximately 53.3% for
FY2021. The gross profit margin for the Distribution Sales dropped to
approximately 45.3% for FY2022 and approximately 50.0% for FY2021.

The Group's gross profit margin for the sale of food and beverages was
approximately 69.7% for FY2022 and FY2021, which remained relatively stable.

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses mainly comprise (i) depreciation
of right-of-use assets; (ii) staff costs attributable to the salary of our staff
engaged in selling and marketing activities; (iii) marketing expenses; (iv)
payment gateway charges attributable to fees for our payment channels such
as credit cards or EPS; and (v) electricity and water expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

The Group's selling and marketing expenses amounted to approximately
HK$33.4 million for FY2022, representing a decrease of approximately HK$4.4
million or approximately 11.6% from approximately HK$37.8 million for FY2021.
Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in (i) depreciation of right-of-
use assets of approximately HK$1.9 million; and (i) marketing expenses of
approximately HK$1.4 million.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses mainly comprised (i) staff costs for
our administrative staff and Directors’ emoluments; (i) professional fees
which included legal fees, consultancy fees and auditor's remuneration; (iii)
travel expenses; (iv) office expenses; (v) depreciation of our property, plant
and equipment, and amortisation of our intangible assets; (vi) repairs and
maintenance for our trucks and retail stores; (vii) insurance expenses which
included business insurance, vehicle insurance and medical insurance; (viii)
recruitment expenses which included fees to the recruitment agents and
advertisements on websites; (ix) bank charges; (x) handling fee; and (xi) others
which included motor vehicle expenses, net foreign exchange losses and
entertainment expenses.

For FY2022, the Group’s administrative expenses amounted to approximately
HK$26.8 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$7.9 million or
approximately 41.5% from approximately HK$18.9 million for FY2021. Such
increase was mainly due to the increase in (i) staff costs for our administrative
staff and Directors’ emoluments of approximately HK$4.4 million due to the
increase in the tasks of the risk management given the challenge of the current
year; (i) net foreign exchange losses of approximately HK$1.5 million; and (iii)
professional fees of approximately HK$1.3 million.

Fair value change on contingent consideration payable
Fair value change on contingent consideration payable amounted to
approximately HK$3.4 million is the fair value recognised in profit or loss on
contingent consideration payable for FY2022.

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of contingent consideration payable based
on the audited results of Italiving for the year ended 31 December 2021 was nil
and the fair value change of approximately HK$3.4 million was recognised in
the profit or loss for FY2022.

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly comprised interest expenses on interest-bearing
borrowings and finance charges on lease liabilities. Finance costs decreased
to approximately HK$0.8 million for FY2022 as compared to approximately
HK$1.3 million for FY2021. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
interest expenses on interest-bearing borrowings and finance charges on lease
liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the Group decreased to approximately HK$1.8 million
for FY2022 from approximately HK$3.3 million for FY2021. The decrease was
mainly due to the decrease in profit before income tax.

Profit for the year

The Group recorded a decrease in profit by approximately 64.1% from
approximately HK$14.6 million for FY2021 to approximately HK$5.2 million for
FY2022.

KEY FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS

Inventories

The Group’s inventories consisted of finished goods and goods in transit which
we purchased from our suppliers. The inventories balance slightly decreased
to approximately HK$10.3 million as at 31 March 2022 from approximately
HK$11.8 million as at 31 March 2021.

Trade and other receivables

The Group's trade receivables consisted of trade receivables from customers
and payment vendors. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, our trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$32.4 million and HK$42.6 million, respectively.
The decrease of approximately HK$10.3 million was mainly due to the decrease
in trade receivables of Italiving.

The Group's loans receivables consisted of loans receivables from customers.
As at 31 March 2022, our loans receivables amounted to approximately HK$1.1
million.

The Group's other receivables consisted of rental deposits, utilities deposits,
trade deposits, prepayments, and prepayment to a related company. As at 31
March 2022 and 2021, our other receivables amounted to approximately HK$8.6
million and HK$13.8 million, respectively. The decrease was mainly due to less
prepayments were made to our suppliers in order to secure the orders.

The Group's non-current portion of other receivables consisted of prepayments
for acquisition of property, plants and equipment. As at 31 March 2022, it
amounted to approximately HK$0.2 million.

Bank balance and cash

Bank balance and cash include cash at bank and in hand. As at 31 March 2022
and 2021, our bank balance and cash amounted to approximately HK$22.2
million and HK$29.1 million, respectively. For the details of cash movement,
please refer to the consolidated statement of cash flows on page 67.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

Trade and other payables

The Group's trade payables consisted of trade payables to suppliers in relation
to the purchase of goods. There were no credit periods granted by our suppliers.
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, our trade payables amounted to approximately
HK$7.7 million and HK$4.1 million, respectively.

The Group's other payables comprised accrued charges, consideration payable
which represent the unpaid cash consideration for the acquisition of Italiving,
and provision for long service payments. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, our
other payables amounted to approximately HK$15.4 million and HK$21.5 million,
respectively. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in consideration
payable remained unpaid as at 31 March 2022.

Contract liabilities

The Group's contract liabilities mainly represented unrecognised revenue from
customers where delivery of products is required and pending. As at 31 March
2022 and 2021, our contract liabilities amounted to approximately HK$8.2
million and HK$12.1 million, respectively. The decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in advance payments from customers as a result of less sales made
during FY2022.

Bank borrowings

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, our Group recorded bank borrowings of
approximately HK$6.5 million and HK$8.8 million, respectively. The decrease in
bank borrowings was mainly due to the repayment of the bank borrowings.

Lease liabilities

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group recorded lease liabilities of
approximately HK$14.4 million and HK$13.8 million, respectively. Such increase
was due to the new and renewed leases during the year. As at 31 March 2022,
our Group has entered into leases for warehouse, office, shop premises, motor
vehicles and staff quarter.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$115.0
million, which is financed by total liabilities and Shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$52.3 million and HK$62.7 million, respectively. The
Group's current ratio at 31 March 2022 was approximately 1.6 compared to
approximately 1.7 at 31 March 2021.

Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2022 was approximately 33.4%
while as at 31 March 2021 was approximately 32.1%.

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the total borrowings and lease
liabilities, divided by total equity at each reporting date.

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure for FY2022 was approximately HK$0.6 million, which
was mainly used for the purchase of furniture and fixtures and leasehold
improvements.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2022, there were no significant contingent liabilities for the
Group.

Commitments
As at 31 March 2022, there were no operating lease commitments of the Group
(2021: HK$0.1 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has HK$0.2 million capital commitments (2021
Nil).

Charges on Group assets
As at 31 March 2022, right of use assets with net book value of approximately
HK$13.4 million were held under lease arrangements (2021: HK$13.9 million).

Segment information
Segment information is presented for the Group as disclosed on Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 25 January 2018. There has been no change in the capital
structure of the Group since then. The share capital of the Group only comprises
of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2022, the Company'’s issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
FY2022 (2021: HKO0.8 cents per share).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

There was no significant investments, material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies during FY2022.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any concrete plan for material
investments or capital assets for the coming year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

In the course of conducting business, our Group is exposed to various types
of risks, including operational risks, credit risks, liquidity risk and interest
rate risks. Qur Group has established a set of risk management policies and
measures to identify, evaluate and manage risks arising from our operations.

The followings set out some of the primary operational risks our Group faces
that may materially and adversely affect our Group's business, financial
condition and results of operation and our risk management measures:

1.  Risk of remaining competitive in a highly

fragmented and competitive market

The lifestyle furniture and home furnishing market is highly fragmented
and competitive with low barriers to entry, and there are no specific
market leaders. Our competitors may have greater financial, marketing,
personnel and other relevant resources compared to us. In particular,
the pricing strategies implemented by our competitors may affect the
pricing of our products. If our competitors significantly reduce their
product prices, we may have to reduce our selling prices or engage in
further marketing to remain competitive. This would likely reduce our
revenue and profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Risk of dependent on the shift in customer’s tastes
and preferences

Due to the nature of the furniture retail industry, the customers generally
purchase our products on an infrequent basis. Apart from the PRC
distributor, there is no purchase commitments from our customers and
there is no obligation for them to purchase any products from us in the
future. There is a risk that we may not be able to attract new customers
or existing customers to purchase our products if we fail to successfully
track changing customers tastes and preferences and market trends.

Risk of failure in expanding sales network to new
locations in Hong Kong or through online platform

It may take longer than expected for the new stores to reach breakeven
or achieve investment payback, if at all. There is no guarantee that we
will execute our expansion plans according to business strategies in the
prospectus of the Company dated 12 January 2018 (the “Prospectus”)
successfully, or that we will be able to attract more customers from our
expansion. If we fail to execute our expansion plans, our operations and
results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.

Risk of not entering into any long-term contracts
with our major suppliers

We rely on our major suppliers to supply products to us and we do not
have any long-term contracts with these suppliers. As such, we are
exposed to the risks such as unexpected price fluctuation, shortage of
supply of products, failure to meet our agreed delivery time and refusal
to supply products. In such case, we would have to look for alternative
suppliers and we may not be able to do so in a timely manner and/or
at a similar price with comparable quality. Further, if we fail to replace
our major suppliers when our business relationship is disrupted or
terminated, we may face a shortage in supply of certain products and
our business and results of operations may be adversely affected as a
result.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As our Group's revenue and expenses are mainly denominated in HK$ and
most of our Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in HKS$, which is our
functional currency, except for certain overseas purchases, bank balances, bank
borrowings which are denominated in Euro or USD. During FY2022, the Group
has net exchange loss of approximately HK$1.5 million (FY2021: net exchange
gain of approximately HK$0.7 million).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total of 72 employees. Total staff costs,
(including Directors” emoluments) of approximately HK$28.2 million for FY2022
(FY2021: approximately HK$23.2 million).

The Group's remuneration policies were determined with reference to the
performance, qualification and experience of individual employee, as well as
the results of the Group and the market conditions. We have also adopted the
share option scheme which is designed to provide incentives and rewards to our
employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Except for investments in subsidiaries, the Group did not hold any significant
investments during FY2022.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

This forthcoming financial year will continue to be challenging as retail market
conditions remain competitive and weak consumer confidence and spending
in Hong Kong prevails while impacted by the outbreak of the COVID-19. These
factors will continue to impact our performance adversely for the forthcoming
year. We will continue to focus on running our two TREE retail stores and
also our e-commerce platform in Hong Kong. We will also keep expanding
our business to provision of furniture rental. We will continue to consolidate
and invest to build on our existing revenue streams while identifying new
opportunities.

The Group has also strengthened its income base and expanded the products
offered within its portfolio by providing furniture agency services for furniture
imported from Italy, primarily to customers in the PRC. The Group continues to
look for ways to provide comprehensive services to customers in Hong Kong
and the PRC.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Listing in January 2018, after deducting the
underwriting fees, the Stock Exchange trading fee and the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (the “SFC") transaction levy and
other listing-related expenses in connection with the Share Offer, were
approximately HK$20.3 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The original allocation of proceeds from the Share Offer, the utilisation and
remaining balance of the proceeds as at 31 March 2022, are summarised

BEER WA

fisctn) 3% B P 1S SRIRH RA 79 B 77 VA K 7020225
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below:
Actual use of
Net Proceeds Revised
from the Listing Unutilised allocation of the
Planned use of Date to 31 March Net Proceeds up unutilised Net
Uses Net Proceeds 2022 to 31 March 2022 Proceeds
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services and distribution AR A K&
sales DHEETIE 18 18
Enhance operational BHEERR
efficiencies 19 19
Settlement of the future RWEEZER
consideration payable in TR KEARE
relation to the acquisition of
[taliving 7.0 1.0
Total @t 20.3 19.3 1.0

The Board, having considered the business environment and the development
of the Group (in particular the political and social unrest in 2019 and the
outbreak of the COVID-19 in the PRC and Hong Kong), resolved to change the
use of the unutilised net proceeds of approximately HK$8.0 million for the
settlement of the future consideration payable in relation to the acquisition
(the "Acquisition”) of Italiving, which was completed on 31 December 2018,
as disclosed in the disclosable transaction acquisition announcement dated 17
December 2018. The unutilised net proceeds of HK$1.0 million will expect to
utilise in the first quarter of 2023.

The expected timeline for utilising the unutilised net proceeds is based on the
best estimation of the present market situations in Hong Kong made by the
Board.

KERLHRTRASENER (LA R2019F
B S8 g KRB IEZECOVIDI9)  EEE
HAB M KRBAASGREFELNE 25 TW
B#® U BHA2018F2A7TENETEER
SRBAEMEEREEZER(RBEE]
BR2018F 12 A3THZAK) ERF KK EARE - &
A ATSHIBEFEI0E B8 BT 1520234
E—FEHA -

PRAPAMGRBEFENARATHADANES
EREARBM ALK EGTRER -

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 SR #Z IR H PR X &) Annual Report €3 2022



20

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (/& %), aged 62, is our Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer, our Executive Director and the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.
He was appointed as our Director on 22 April 2016 and designated as our
Chairman and Non-Executive Director on 6 September 2016 and re-designated
as a Chairman, a Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the Company
on 1 August 2019. He is also a Director of TREE Limited. He is responsible for
supporting our Group on a strategic level.

Mr. Tong has more than 34 years of experience in the financial industry. Mr.
Tong was an Executive Director of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (stock code: 86),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from December
2003 to January 2016. He also held various senior positions at Sun Hung Kai &
Co. Limited from December 2004 to January 2016 such as the Chief Executive
Officer of its wealth management, brokerage and capital markets and the Chief
Executive Officer of its capital markets and institutional brokerage. Mr. Tong
was also a Director of Bali International Finance Limited (now known as Sun
Hung Kai Structured Finance Limited) from March 2004 to January 2016. From
July 2013 to July 2016, he was an Independent Non-Executive Director of Carry
Wealth Holdings Limited (stock code: 643), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tong was a Non-Executive Director and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of Mason Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 273), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from April 2016 to January
2018. He was Chairman of the Board of Directors of Mason Group Holdings
Limited from April 2016 to September 2016, and Joint Chairman from
September 2016 to January 2018. He was also a substantial shareholder of
Mason Group Holdings Limited from May 2016 to December 2017. Mr. Tong was
also an Independent Director of Jih Sun Financial Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 5820), the shares of which are listed on the Taipei Exchange in
Taiwan, between 2009 and June 2019.

Mr. Tong obtained a degree of Bachelor of Social Sciences (Honours) from
the University of Hong Kong in November 1982 and a degree of Master of
Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in October
1988. He was admitted as a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in November 2000 and advanced to fellowship status in November
2005.
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Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, aged 51, is our Executive Director, Managing
Director and a member of our Nomination Committee. She was appointed as
one of our Directors on 9 March 2016, and designated as our Chief Executive
Officer and Executive Director on 6 September 2016. From 1 August 2019, Mr.
Tong Tang Joseph took over the Chief Executive Officer role on the Board. She
joined our Group in February 2010 as the Managing Director of TREE Limited
and is also a Director of TREE Limited. Ms. Babington is responsible for the
strategy of TREE Limited and for the implementation on an operational level,
across all functions including but not limited to internal management, human
resources, marketing, merchandising, sales and delivery.

Ms. Babington has more than 26 years of experience in the retail industry.
From May 1993 to January 2010, Ms. Babington worked in The Body Shop
International PLC.

In February 1993, Ms. Babington graduated from the University of Central
Lancashire in the United Kingdom with a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in
Business and Finance. In November 1996, she obtained a Certificate in Applied
Professional Studies from the University of Brighton in the United Kingdom. She
obtained a degree of Master of Arts in Marketing from the Kingston University
in the United Kingdom in October 1998. In November 2003, Ms. Babington
completed the social systems auditor/lead auditor training course provided by
SGS Hong Kong Limited.

Ms. Babington became an Associate (corporate) of the Chartered Institute of
Marketing in the United Kingdom in December 1996. She was also admitted
as a Member of the Chartered Institute of Marketing in the United Kingdom in
November 1998.
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Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (#& #84&), aged 40, is our Executive Director, a member
of our Remuneration Committee and our Compliance Officer. He was appointed
as our Director on 9 March 2016 and designated as our Executive Director
on 6 September 2016. He joined our Group in June 2015 as a Director of Tree
Limited. Mr. Tsui is responsible for managing the financial matters of our Group.

Mr. Tsui has more than 16 years of experience in the accounting and corporate
field. Mr. Tsui has been the Chief Executive Officer of AE Majoris Advisory
Company Limited which is principally engaged in the provision of corporate
advisory services, since January 2012. He was the Company Secretary of
Noble House (China) Holdings Limited (now known as Zhonghua Gas Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 8246), a company listed on GEM, from July 2013 to August
2014. From August 2004 to January 2012, Mr. Tsui worked in an international
accounting firm in Hong Kong with his last position as a Manager in auditing.
Mr. Tsui was a Non-Executive Director of CCT Land Holdings Limited (stock
code: 261), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from
January 2017 to April 2018. He was a Non-Executive Director of Jiu Zun
Digital Interactive Entertainment Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1961),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from 21 February
2020 to 24 May 2022. Mr. Tsui has been the Company Secretary of Ching Lee
Holdings Limited (stock code: 3728), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, since 14 August 2017. Mr. Tsui has been appointed as
a Non-Executive Director of Star Group Company Limited (stock code: 1560),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 7 February
2022. On 15 February 2022, Mr. Tsui has been appointed as an Executive
Director and Chairman of Capital Estate Limited (stock code:193), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tsui was appointed by the Embassy of the Republic of the Uganda in Beijing
as Honorary Trade, Tourism and Investment Consultant/Adviser on China (Hong
Kong and Macau SAR) from November 2016 to June 2019.

Mr. Tsui has been appointed as a member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Qinzhou City in Guangxi Province in China since
December 2019.

Mr. Tsui has been appointed by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional
Integration of the Republic of Ghana as Honorary Consul of Ghana in Hong Kong
in March 2020.

Mr. Tsui graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting
in November 2004. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant and a
Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in January 2009 and January 2012, respectively.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Bian Dahai (38 K ), aged 47, was appointed as our Non-Executive
Director on 1 October 2020.

Mr. Bian has over 22 years’ experience in business management and project
investment. Mr. Bian is active in various industries, including but not limited to
the chain catering, hotel management, internet and technology, smart home
and smart elderly care industries. The Board believes that Mr. Bian's wide range
of experiences will bring new energy to the Board and therefore further improve
the business performance of the Group.

Mr. Bian is currently and has been the executive director and legal
representative of Beijing Savings Credit Investment Management Co., Ltd.
(At ZREEE R EE I B R a]) since November 2015, the director of
Shandong Bonds Silver City Network Technology Co., Ltd. (LI B8 & f& 58 35 49
4% B B BR 72 7)) since September 2017, the director of Zibo Shizuyuangi
Hotel Management Co., Ltd. (31§t 2 R 2B JE E 2 A R A 7)) since
December 2017 and the director of Zibo Subaosu Catering Management Co.,
Ld. (& 1E =B & B KB 22 B PR 2 ) since December 2017.

In September and October 2018, Mr. Bian passed the Licensing Examinations
for Fund Practitioners in respect of fund laws and regulations, professional
ethics and private equity investment funds organised by Asset Management
Association of China.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (%5 32 &), aged 54, was appointed as
our Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also
the Chairman of our Audit Committee and a member of our Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Yeung has over 30 years of experience in accounting, auditing and financial
management. Mr. Yeung has been the Chief Financial Officer and an Executive
Director of GCL Technology Holdings Limited (“GCL Tech”, formerly known
as GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited) (stock code: 3800), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since May and September 2014,
respectively, responsible for its financial control and reporting, corporate
finance, tax and risk management. He has also been the Company Secretary of
GCL Tech since March 2017. Since September 2015, Mr. Yeung has also been a
Non-Executive Director of GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 451),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From May 1994 to
March 2014, Mr. Yeung worked at Deloitte China with his last position being
a Partner. From January 2008 to December 2008, Mr. Yeung was a part-time
member of the Central Policy Unit of the Government of Hong Kong.

Mr. Yeung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business with a major in
Accounting from Edith Cowan University in Australia in February 1992. He was
admitted as an associate and a certified practising accountant of the Australian
Society of Certified Practising Accountants in February 1992 and January 1996,
respectively. He was also admitted as a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in June 1996.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin (% {2 &), aged 61, was appointed as our Independent
Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also a member of our
Audit Committee and Nomination committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Tsang has extensive expertise in commercial building and interior
architecture and has over 24 years of experience as a leader of design team in a
broad variety of projects. Mr. Tsang has been a Director of AGC Design Limited
since November 1999.

Mr. Tsang graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a degree of
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in Architectural Studies in November 1982 and
a degree of Bachelor of Architecture in November 1985. He also obtained a
degree of Master of Business and Administration from the University of Toronto
in Canada in June 1992.

Mr. Tsang was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Architects
and elected into membership of the Royal Institute of British Architects
in December 1986 and July 1987, respectively. He was also admitted as a
professional member of the Hong Kong Interior Design Association in 2001
and was a founding member of the World Association of Chinese Architects in
April 2004. Mr. Tsang was accredited a PRC Class 1 Registered Architect of the
National Administration Board of Architectural Registration (Qualification) in
August 2004, and admitted as an APEC Architect by the Central Council of the
Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation in December 2015. He currently holds the
Certificate of Registration of Authorised Person (list of architects) issued by the
Building Authority in Hong Kong and is a registered architect in Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsang is appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the
Architects Registration Board for the period from May 2016 to May 2020.
He was also appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the
Contractors Registration Committee Panel from January 2004 to December
2008. He was a member of the Authorised Persons Registration Committee
and the Authorised Persons Registration Committee Panel of the Buildings
Department from January 2006 to December 2011, and an alternate member
of the Advisory Committee of Barrier Free Access of the Buildings Department
from July 2007 to July 2009.
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Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth ( &£ /& % ), aged 63, was appointed as our
Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also the
Chairman of our Remuneration Committee and a member of our Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Sit has over 34 years of experience in the legal profession. He is a
practicing solicitor and Notary Public in Hong Kong. Mr. Sit was the sole-
proprietor of Kenneth Sit, Solicitors from October 2004 to October 2012,
and has been the Managing Partner of that firm since October 2012. Mr. Sit
has been an Independent Non-Executive Director of Pokfulam Development
Company Limited (stock code: 225), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, since October 2005 and Zijin Mining Group Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 2899 and 601899), a company dually listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange, during 2013 to 2019.

Mr. Sit graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Laws
(Honours) in 1980 and was awarded the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws by the
University of Hong Kong in July 1981. He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in March 1983.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Kong Chi Tong (3T 2k &), aged 40, was the Senior Merchandiser of TREE
Limited. He was responsible for product sourcing of TREE Limited. He resigned
as our Senior Merchandiser on 26 October 2021.

Mr. Kong has over 12 years of experience in merchandising. Before joining
our Group in September 2011, he worked at a number of companies, including
(i) OVO Limited from April 2006 to February 2008 as a Merchandiser; and
(i) Impact Creation Limited from July 2004 to January 2006 as an Assistant
Merchandiser.

Mr. Kong obtained a degree of Associate of Arts in General Studies and
a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Business
Management from the City University of Hong Kong in November 2003 and
November 2005, respectively.

Ms. Tang Wai Chun Annie (&8 {2 '), aged 54, is the Personnel Officer of
TREE Limited. She is responsible for the administration and human resources
affairs of TREE Limited.

Ms. Tang has over 17 years of experience in administration, human resources
and personnel management. Before joining our Group in March 2009, she
worked at a number of companies, including (i) Café O Limited from April 2008
to March 2009 as a human resources Assistant, primarily responsible for
human resources matters; (i) Stanley’s Restaurants for at least 6 years ending
December 1996 as a Personnel and Administration Officer and a Personal
Assistant to the Chief Executive and Directors, primarily responsible for
updating and improving the personnel policies of the company, and dealing with
all day-to-day personnel administration; and (iii) the Repulse Bay Restaurants
from May 1989 to April 1990 as an Administration Coordinator, primarily
responsible for all of the administration and personnel affairs of over 100
employees.

Ms. Tang obtained a Diploma in Hotel Management from Swiss Hotel &
Catering Colleges in Switzerland in April 1988.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tse Tsz Him (3 7 &), aged 34, is our company Secretary. He joined our
Group on 1 October 2021.

Mr. Tse has over 10 years of experience in the fields of auditing, accounting,
financial management and financial reporting. Since July 2017, Mr. Tse has
been working for AE Majoris Corporate Services Company Limited. From
September 2010 to June 2017, Mr. Tse worked in an international accounting
firm in Hong Kong.

Mr. Tse graduated from the University of Hull in United Kingdom with a degree
of Bachelor of Accounting in 2010. Mr. Tse is a holder of a Master's degree in
Corporate Governance, is an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in the United Kingdom.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak is our Compliance Officer. Details of the qualification and
experience of Mr. Tsui have been disclose in the paragraph headed “Executive
Directors” of this section.

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak and Mr. Tse Tsz Him are the authorised representatives of our
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

We are committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate
governance, as our Board believes that good and effective corporate
governance practices are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the
Shareholders of the Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for
encouraging accountability and transparency so as to sustain the success of the
Group and to create long-term value for the Shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to the Shareholders
and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value through good corporate
governance. Our Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to achieve effective
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance Report as set
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. In the opinion of the Board, save
as Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company has complied with the CG
Code during FY2022.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of the code of conduct for
dealings in securities of the Company by the Directors as set out in Rules
5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company, and there was no event of
non-compliance throughout FY2022.
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TRERWME

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should include a
balanced composition of Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Non-
Executive Directors so that there is an independent element on the Board,
which can effectively exercise independent judgment.

As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Bian Dahai

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

Responsibilities and Functions of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group's mission and standards and ensures that the
requisite financial and human resources support are in place for the Group to
achieve its objectives.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to these
Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference which are published on the respective websites of GEM and
the Company. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions
to senior management of the Group if and when considered appropriate.
The management of day-to-day operation of the Group's businesses and
implementation of the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the
Board has been delegated to the senior management of the Group.
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The functions performed by the Board include but are not limited to the
following matters:

° formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring the
implementation thereof;

° deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments, divestments,
disposals of assets or any significant capital expenditure;

° approving of the Group's consolidated financial statements, published
reports, price sensitive announcement and other disclosure required
under the GEM Listing Rules;

° developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance
practices and the effectiveness of the Group's financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems;

° Board appointment and other major appointments or removal; and
° monitoring the performance of the management.

The Directors have full and timely access to information and accounts of the
Group and are entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company's expense.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three Independent Non-Executive Directors
representing more than one-third of the Board and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-Executive Director an
annual confirmation of his independence, and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent in accordance with each and the various guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance
Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the Directors’
liability has been arranged by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Directors also participate in continuous professional
development programmes such as external seminars organised by qualified
professionals, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to
their contribution to the Board. All Board members have received Directors’
training hosted by a law firm which was about, inter alias, the GEM Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance and Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ").

From time to time, the Company Secretary updates and provides written
training materials on the latest developments of applicable GEM Listing Rules
and regulations to the Directors.

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional

development and are committed to participate any suitable training to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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MEETINGS OF BOARD AND DIRECTORS'
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board will schedule to meet at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days in
advance. The Directors are allowed to include any other matters in the agenda
that is required for discussion and resolution at the meeting. To enable the
Directors to be properly briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings and
to make informed decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers
together with all appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters
of the meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended
date of each regular Board meeting and three days or such other period as
agreed before each other Board meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the minutes will be circulated to the Directors
for comments and record within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for the Directors inspection. According to the GEM
Listing Rules, any Directors and their associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) with a material interest in the transactions to be discussed at the Board
meetings will abstain from voting on resolutions approving such transactions
and are not counted in the quorum of the meetings.

During FY2022, five Board meetings and one Shareholders’ meeting (being the
annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the Company) were held. The individual
attendance record of the Board and Shareholders’ meetings is set out as
follows:
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Name of Directors EEHE BREFASRE EEZEERBAE
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph EELLE 1/1 5/5
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Mary Kathleen Babington 2 = il 5/5
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak HrEREE 171 5/5
Mr. Bian Dahai BREEE 01 5/5
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles 15 SRS 0/1 5/5
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BRELEE 01 5/5
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth HEELE 11 5/5
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TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of our Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our
Company on 25 January 2018 and we signed letters of appointment with each
of our Independent Non-Executive Directors on the same day. The service
contracts with our Executive Directors are for an initial term of three years
commencing from the listing date on 25 January 2018 (the “Listing Date") and
can be terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ notice in
writing. We signed a letter of appointment with our Non-Executive Director on
30 September 2020. The service contract with our Non-Executive Director is for
an initial term of three years commencing from 1 October 2020.

The service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to termination
in accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts can be
renewed in accordance with our articles of association (the “Articles”) and the
applicable GEM Listing Rules.

According to our Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation at every AGM of the Company, provided that
every Director shall retire from office by rotation and are subject to re-election
at AGM at least once every three years. Directors who are appointed to fill
casual vacancies shall hold office only until the next following general meeting
after their appointment, and are subject to re-election by Shareholders of the
Company.

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a policy of the Board diversity (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also enhance the quality of performance of
the Company.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board
members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy. All Board appointments will continue to
be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the
Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge.

The Board Diversity Policy is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR B FR A & Annual Report £ %k 2022

ESNZEERERHKN

ZWMITEEER2018F1 A25H B AR R RT3 RS
A8 MEMACARBESBYFEATESSE
R LR - MIITES IR & 4 EIR 5201851
ABE EmABR(ETEHDRYIS AR =F -
BABHEA—A#ET PR @A AEZEBALK
1F ° BB R2020F9 A0 I EHITE 5 5
ZAEK - FERITEBHNRH S 4 HIR 520204
VAR RTFSBE=F -

RBAORZEHARBESBIRKEL - R
B FHIREASEZMA (AR R
EAGEM LR A E 4 -

REBEAR  EARRBEBRRBFAEL &
BN =D<z EFERERT EESREFA
ELB=FHERRBFASLBERIRER
BEE-R BERINEMAREZRNESECL
BEEREZERMNERABRRARER/L  YAR
BEXARBBRREE -

FRAERBEFRSRAEREETRE  BE
HHERRHUNEMERTORELENESE -

EEERESTNHE
EFECRMA-EXFERASTIBE ¥
PRI RAR A E BT E MG ERY
RBRREEMNT I -

ARARARTREEFEXNE S L@ - K
RABNEREFTENZE BREZ T
RAOEEDFE AXBEBREONIT - 7
FEFSEanSEEERRAAET RESEK
BZTRENRA - PORRE AR KE X
Sz e BRETRNER - Fik XL
RBEER Bk FELR RERAH -

AN A 48 W www. treeholdings.com IR E B & X B
ZALBEB AREFR -



35

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Pursuant to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph currently assumes the role of both chairman of the
Company and chief executive of the Company. In view that Mr. Tong has been
assuming day-to-day responsibilities in operating and managing our Group and
the rapid development of our Group, the Board believes that with the support of
Mr. Tong's extensive experience and knowledge in the business of the Group,
vesting the roles of both Chairman and chief executive officer of our Company
in Mr. Tong strengthens the solid and consistent leadership and thereby allows
for efficient business planning and decision which is in the best interest to our
Group. Mr. Tong delegates the role and responsibilities including operations,
management, business development and strategy planning of the Group to
other Executive Directors. The Board will review the need of appointing suitable
candidate to assume the role of chief executive when necessary.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee to
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The Board committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s expense.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set
out in the CG Code which included developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the code provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this
report.
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Audit Committee

We established our Audit Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C3.2 and
(3.3 of the CG Code Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors passed
on 5 January 2018. The terms of reference were amended and restated on
4 January 2019, with respect to the update of the GEM Listing Rules. The
primary duties of our Audit Committee are, among other things, to make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of external auditor, review the financial statements and provide advice in
respect of financial reporting, oversee our financial reporting process, internal
control, risk management systems and audit process, and perform other duties
and responsibilities assigned by our Board.

At present, our Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles,
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, all being Independent Non-
Executive Directors. Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles is the Chairman of our Audit
Committee.

During FY2022, the Audit Committee held four meetings, at which the Audit
Committee has reviewed and discussed the Company’s consolidated financial
results, including the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group,
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control and risk management systems and the Group's internal audit
function and recommended to the Board for consideration the same and the re-
appointment of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”) as the
Company's external independent auditor at the forthcoming AGM.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.

During FY2022, the attendance of each member at the Audit Committee
meeting is as follows:
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EEHE EBHERY BITRHY
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (Chairman) B BEE(FE 4/4
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BELEE 4/4
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth BEELEL 4/4
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Remuneration Committee

We established our Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B1.2 of
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices pursuant to a resolution of our
Directors passed on 5 January 2018. The primary duties of our Remuneration
Committee are to review and approve the management’'s remuneration
proposals, make recommendations to our Board on the remuneration package
of our Directors and senior management and ensure none of our Directors
determines his/her own remuneration.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.

At present, our Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, being
our Executive Director, and two of our Independent Non-Executive Directors,
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth. Mr. Sit Hoi Wah
Kenneth is the Chairman of our Remuneration Committee.

During FY2022, the committee met on 22 June 2021 and with 100% attendance
by all Committee members.

Nomination Committee

We established our Nomination Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with paragraph A5.2 of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors passed on 5 January 2018.
The terms of reference were amended and restated on 4 January 2019, with
respect to the update of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of our
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of
our Board, and select or make recommendations on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships.

At present, our Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tong Tang Joseph, being
our Chairman and Executive Director, Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, being our
Executive Director, and our three Independent Non-Executive Directors, Mr.
Yeung Man Chung Charles, Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth and Mr. Tsang Wai Yin.
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph is the Chairman of our Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.

During FY2022, the committee met once on 22 June 2021 with 100%
attendance by all Committee members.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For FY2022, Grant Thornton was engaged as the Group's independent auditor.
Apart from the provision of annual audit services, Grant Thornton also provided
the non-audit services to the Company.

For FY2022, the remuneration paid or payable to Grant Thornton in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided is set out below:
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2022

20224

Category of services HK$"000
PR 75 38 5l FET
Audit services FEZRE 750.0
Non-audit services FEE &R 38.3

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is committed to provide a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects in annual,
interim and quarterly reports, and other financial disclosures required by the
GEM Listing Rules. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group's
results and cash flows for FY2022 and are properly prepared on a going concern
basis in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and accounting
standards.

The management will provide the Board with monthly updates giving a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position
and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties under Rule 5.01 and Chapter 17 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern.

In addition, Grant Thornton has stated in the Independent Auditor’s Report its

reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for FY2022.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review of the
Group's system of internal controls and risk assessment. A review of internal
controls systems of different operations was conducted by an independent
external risk advisory firm to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy internal
controls system.

The Board considered the internal controls system of the Group to be adequate
and effective for FY2022. The Board also conducted a review of the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programs and budget which
are considered to be adequate for FY2022.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the GEM
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should be
announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision.

The Company has established and maintained the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination inside information. The Company
has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the
Directors in accordance with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other
employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group has strictly
prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or insider information or any use of
such information for the advantage of himself or others. Any inside information
and any information which may potentially constitute inside information is
promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board
to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of GEM and the Company in due course.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tse Tsz Him (3 F 5 ), aged 34, is our Company Secretary. He joined our
Group in 1 Qctober 2021. The biographical details of Mr. Tse are set out under
the section headed “Directors and Senior Management”.

The primary duties of the Company Secretary include, but are not limited to, the
following: (i) to ensure the Board procedures are followed and that the activities
of the Board are carried out efficiently and effectively; (ii) to assist the
Chairman to prepare agendas and Board papers for meetings and disseminate
such documents to the Directors and Board committees in a timely manner; (iii)
to timely disseminate announcements and information relating to the Group;
and (iv) to maintain formal minutes of the Board meetings and other Board
committee meetings.

During FY2022, the Company Secretary of the Company had confirmed that he
had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training the accordance
with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An AGM of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (the “"EGM").

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Article 64 of the Articles, EGMs shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made
in writing to the Board or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

The requisition must state clearly the name of the Shareholder(s) concerned,
his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene the EGM
and the proposed agenda.

Procedures for Shareholders to send enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that the Company maintains
on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, use AGM or other
meetings to communicate with Shareholders and encourage their participation.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders through convening the AGM or general meetings, publication of
annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements, circulars as well
as all the disclosures submitted to the respective websites of GEM and the
Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during
FY2022.

A copy of the Memorandum and Articles of Assaciation of the Company is
posted on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company's dividend policy aims to allow Shareholders to participate in the
Company's profit and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for the its
future growth. In proposing any dividend, the Company would consider various
factors including but not limited to (i) the Group’s financial results, {ii) the
financial condition of the Group, (iii) the Group’s working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans, (iv) the Group's
liquidity position, (v) economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position
of the Group and (vi) any other factors that our Board may consider appropriate.

There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

According to the Company’s Articles and the Companies Ordinance, dividends
must be paid in cash or be satisfied wholly or partly in the form of allotment of
shares of the Company. The Board may consider the issuance of bonus shares
on a basis permitted by the applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and reserves the right in
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
dividend policy at any time.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for FY2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Headquartered in Hong Kong, we engage in (i) the sale, distribution and rental
of furniture and home accessories which is operating under the brand name
“TREE"; (i) the distribution and licensing of our intellectual property rights of
“TREE"; (iii) the operation of TREE Café in our flagship store in Ap Lei Chau (the
“Flagship Store"); (iv) the provision of home accessories agency services; (v) the
provision of styling and consulting services; and (vi) the provision of consumer
loan services.

As at the date of this report, we operated two “TREE" retail stores in Hong
Kong namely, our Flagship Store and our Sha Tin store. We have commenced
online sales since May 2019. We offer a variety of (a) furniture including tables,
chairs, storage solutions, sofas and beds; and (b) home accessories including
kitchenware, bed and bathroom related products, jars, cushions, mattresses,
utensils and baskets.

In addition, we acquired lItaliving in December 2018, which is principally
engaged in the provision of furniture agency service in Hong Kong. Furthermore,
a subsidiary, Shanghai lItaliving, was incorporated in July 2019, which is
principally engaged in the sale and distribution of furniture, and the provision of
styling and consulting services in the PRC.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for FY2022 is set out in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this report.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for FY2022 and the financial position of the Company
and the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set forth in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 64 to 155 of this report.

The Directors does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2022.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

Details of the Company's share capital are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the distributable reserves of the Company and
of the Group during FY2022 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during FY2022 amounted to
approximately HK$135,000 (FY2021: HK$185,000).

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S SHARE
OFFERING

The net proceeds from the Listing in January 2018, after deducting the
underwriting fees, the Stock Exchange trading fee and SFC transaction levy and
other listing expenses in connection with the Share Offer, were approximately
HK$20.3 million.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 18 to 19 of this report.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group, as
extracted from the Prospectus and the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the years ended 31 March 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022 is set
out on page 156 of this report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 5 January 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance
with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules and set out below.

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable our Group to grant
options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to our Group and/or to enable our Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to our Group or any entity in which any member of our Group holds any
equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).

(b) Participants
Our Directors shall, in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme and the GEM Listing Rules, be entitled but shall not be
bound at any time within a period of 10 years commencing from the date
of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme to make an offer for the
grant of an option to any person belonging to the following classes:

(a) any employee (whether full time or part time, including the
Directors (including any Non-Executive Director and Independent
Non-Executive Director)) of our Company, any of our subsidiaries
(within the meaning of Companies Ordinance) or any Invested
Entity (an "Eligible Employee”);

(b)  any supplier of goods or services to any member of our Group or
any Invested Entity;

(c)  any customer of any member of our Group or any Invested Entity;

(d)  any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

(e) any Shareholder of any member of our Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of our
Group or any Invested Entity;

(f) any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant, individual or
equity who in the opinion of our Directors has contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of our Group; and
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(c)

(g) any other groups or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of
our Group,

and, for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the offer for the grant
of an option may be made to any company wholly-owned by one or more
eligible participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by our Company for
the subscription of shares or other securities of our Group to any person
who falls within any of the above classes of eligible participants shall
not, by itself, unless our Directors otherwise determine, be construed as
a grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer under
the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by our Directors from
time to time on the basis of our Directors’ opinion as to such eligible
participant’s contribution to the development and growth of our Group.

Maximum number of shares

(a)  The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by our Group shall not exceed 30% of
our share capital in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes adopted by our Group if the grant of such options will
result in the limit referred herein being exceeded.

(b) The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of our Group) to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
our Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of our share capital
in issue as at the date on which dealings in our shares first
commence on the Stock Exchange, being 158,400,000 shares (the
“General Scheme Limit").
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(d)

(c) Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (d) below, our
Company may seek approval of our Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided that the
total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Group shall not exceed 10% of
our share capital in issue as at the date of approval of the limit
and for the purpose of calculating the limit, options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of our Group) previously granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group will not
be counted.

(d)  Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (c) above, our
Company may seek separate Shareholders’ approval in general
meeting to grant options under the Share Option Scheme
beyond the General Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the extended
limit referred to in (c) above to eligible participants specifically
identified by our Company before such approval is sought.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Subject to (v) below, the total number of shares issued and which
may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each eligible
participant who accepts the offer for the grant of an option under the
Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”) in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of our issued share capital for the time being. Where any
further grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to a grantee
would result in our shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and proposed to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of our share capital in issue, such
further grant shall be separately approved by our Shareholders in
general meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
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(e) Grant of options to core connected persons

(a)  Without prejudice to (b) below, the making of an offer under the
Share Option Scheme to any of our Director, chief executive or
substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective associates
shall be approved by our Independent Non-Executive Directors
(excluding any Independent Non-Executive Director who or
whose close associate is the proposed grantee of an option under
the Share Option Scheme).

(b)  Without prejudice to (a) above, where any grant of options under
the Share Option Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or our
Independent Non-Executive Director or any of their respective
associates, would result in our shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options under the Share Option Scheme
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of our share capital
in issue; and

(2)  having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
our shares at the offer date of each offer, in excess of
HK$5 million;

such further grant of options shall be approved by our
Shareholders in general meeting. The proposed grantee, his
associates and all our core connected persons shall abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

For the purpose of seeking the approval of our Shareholders under
paragraphs (iii), (iv) and (v) above, our Company shall send a circular to
our Shareholders containing the information required under the GEM
Listing Rules and where the GEM Listing Rules shall so require, the vote
at the Shareholders’ meeting convened to obtain the requisite approval
shall be taken on a poll with those persons required under the GEM
Listing Rules abstaining from voting.
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(f) Time of acceptance and exercise of an option
An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open for
acceptance by the eligible participant concerned (and by no other
person) for a period of up to 21 days from the date, which shall be a
business day, on which the offer is made to the eligible participant.

An offer shall have been accepted by an eligible participant in respect
of all shares which are offered to such eligible participant when the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
eligible participant together with a remittance in favour of our Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
our Company within such time as may be specified in the offer (which
shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance
shall in no circumstances be refundable.

Any offer may be accepted by an eligible participant in respect of less
than the number of shares which are offered provided that it is accepted
in respect of a board lot for dealings in our shares on GEM or an integral
multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in the duplicate
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by such eligible
participant and received by our Company together with a remittance in
favour of our Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof within such time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not
be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance shall in no
circumstances be refundable.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by our Directors to the grantee thereof (provided always that such period
shall not be more than 10 years from the offer date of that option), and
in the absence of such determination, from the date of the grant of such
option to the earlier of (aa) the date on which such option lapses under
the relevant provisions of the Share Option Scheme; and (bb) the date
falling 10 years from the offer date of that option.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme and there was no share option outstanding as at 31
March 2022.

The Group participates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the laws of Hong Kong) for employees under the jurisdictions of
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong). The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
monthly income, subject to a cap of HK$1,500. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.
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At 31 March 2021 and 2022, the Group had no forfeited contribution available
to reduce its existing level of contributions to the retirement benefit schemes in
future years.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme of the Company as disclosed above, there
is no equity-linked agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during
FY2022 or subsisted at the end of FY2022.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's shares were successfully listed on GEM on 25 January 2018.
Save as the Listing, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
FY2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During FY2022, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for about
65.2% of the Group's cost of materials and the largest supplier accounted for
about 16.5% of the cost of materials.

During FY2022, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for about
10.0% of the Group's total revenue and the largest customer accounted for
about 6.0% of the total revenue.

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the shares) had
any beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers
referred to above.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Articles provides that the Directors, Secretary and other officers and every
auditor for the time being of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries during FY2022.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during FY2022 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Bian Dahai

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth

Brief biographical details of Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management”.

Article 112 of the Articles provides that any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Article 108(a) to 108(c) of the Articles provides that (1) one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is a not multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at
each AGM, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years; (2) a retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting
at which he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far
as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election.

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph, Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington and Mr. Tsui Wing Tak

will retire at the AGM and all of them, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM.
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The Company has received written confirmations of independence from each
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Yeung Man Chung
Charles, Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, the Company still
considers the Independent Non-Executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which any of the
Company, or any of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his or her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of FY2022 or at any time during FY2022.

COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE
NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING FROM

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, each of Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (“Mr. Tong") and
Tiptop Honour Limited (“Tiptop”) (the “Controlling Shareholders") have entered
into the deed of non-competition undertakings (the “Deed of Non-Competition
Undertakings”) in favour of the Company (for its own and on behalf of all members
of the Group) on 5 January 2018, pursuant to which each of the Controlling
Shareholders, irrevocably and unconditionally, undertakes and covenants with the
Company that during the period that the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings
remains effective, each of the Controlling Shareholders shall not, and shall procure
that none of his/her/its associates (except any member of the Group), directly
or indirectly (other than through the Group) carry on, participate, hold, engage,
being interested in, acquire or operate, directly or indirectly, or provide any form of
assistance to any person, firm or company to conduct any business in competition
with or likely to be in competition with the Group’s existing business activity and
any business activities which may be undertaken by the Group from time to time.
Details of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings have been set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition
Undertakings” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received the annual declaration from each of the Controlling
Shareholders in respect of their respective compliance with the terms of the
Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings during FY2022. The independent
non-executive Directors, having reviewed the annual declarations and made
reasonable enquiry, were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have
complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings during
FY2022 and up to the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

Our Non-Executive Director has entered into a letter of appointment with our
Company for a term of three years commencing from 1 October 2020, which
may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

Each of our Independent Non-Executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with our Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was established for reviewing and determining
the remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior
management with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

Interests and short positions of the Company's
Directors and chief executives in the Company’s
shares, underlying shares and debentures and the
Company’s associated corporations

As at 31 March 2022, the interests or short positions of the Company's
Directors in the Company's shares, underlying shares or debentures which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
in which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ),
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register as referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the “required standard of
dealings” as contained in Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

(i)  Long position in the Company’s shares
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Number of Percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest shares held™ shareholding
BEEnL EEME FrERBEHEBD REB DL
Mr. Tong (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 745,860,000 (L) 47.09%
| e s ) REEEE R E (M 5E2)
Beneficial owner 61,900,000 3.90%
E=mBAA
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Interest in a controlled corporation 59,400,000 (L) 3.75%
(“Ms. Bahington”) (Note 3)
Mary Kathleen Babington % + A B R R 2 (P RE3)
([Babington 2 £ |)
Mr. Bian Dahai (“Mr. Bian") Beneficial Owner 8,000,000 (L) 0.51%
EREEE(RBEED EmEAAN
Notes: B 5E
1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part 1. FEHIUEZALTRZERGFHO[TFE]

XV of the SFO) in such shares.

2. The Company is owned as to 47.09% by Tiptop. Tiptop is wholly-owned
by Mr. Tong.

3. The Company is owned as to 3.75% by Rothley Investment Limited
(“Rothley”). Rothley is wholly-owned by Ms. Babington. Under the SFO,
Ms. Babington is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares
held by Rothley.

4. Mr. Tong was re-designated as an Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company with effect from 1 August 2019.
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Saved as disclosed above, as of 31 March 2022, none of the Company’s
Directors and chief executives and their respective associates had or is deemed
to have any interest or short positions in the Company's shares, underlying
shares or debentures or the Company's associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register as referred
to herein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the “required standard of dealing” as contained in
Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Interests and short positions of substantial
Shareholders in the Company’s shares, underlying
shares and debentures and the Company’s associated
corporations

As at 31 March 2022, so far as the Company's Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company)
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Company’s
shares or underlying shares which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
who, directly or indirectly, were interested in 10% or more of the issued voting
shares of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
at general meetings of any member of the Company:

(i) Long position in the Company’s shares
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Interests in Percentage of

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest shares" shareholding
BREWEEE EEME BRHER REBDL
Tiptop Beneficial owner (Note 2) 745,860,000 (L) 47.09%
=278 Em A A2

Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna Interest of spouse (Note 3) 807,760,000 (L) 50.99%
2450 B 2+ Bie 45 4 2= (B 5E3)

Notes: Bt

1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part 1. FHIUEZALTRZERGFHOTE]

XV of the SFO) in such shares.
2. The Company is owned as to 47.09% by Tiptop.

3. Tiptop is wholly-owned by Mr. Tong, the Company’s Chairman, one of the
Company’s Executive Directors and Controlling Shareholders. Under the
SFO, Mr. Tong is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares
held by Tiptop. Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna is the spouse of Mr. Tong.
Under the SFO, Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna is deemed to be interested in
all the Company's shares in which Mr. Tong is interested.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors were not aware
of any other persons/entities (other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the
issued voting shares of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during FY2022 was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

COMPETING BUSINESS AND CONFLICT OF
INTEREST

As confirmed by the Directors, Controlling Shareholders and their respective
close associates do not have any interests in any business, apart from the
business operated by members of the Group, which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during FY2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Directors
confirm that the Company maintained the public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During FY2022, the Group had not entered into any connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions that are not exempted under Rule 20.71 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the significant related party transactions carried in the ordinary
course of business are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 29 to 41 of
this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event after the reporting period of the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY2022 were audited by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited, the independent auditor, who shall retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditor and to authorise the Directors to fix its
remuneration.

On behalf of the Board
TREE Holdings Limited

Tong Tang Joseph
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

27 June 2022

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR B FR A & Annual Report £ %k 2022

A\ A 3
i%%/ﬁ
AATHEEERARERRAREL9EZNE -

BEMREER
AEEREMEDMEAFE -

B M % BEm

WRFBFENGERUBRRELHBILZE
R (FR) BFMEBRERARER &
BRERERRBERAG LRI ATFAERR
BEERER - ARASRERERRBFRE
tRERBZRUERRR(BE) M EHR
BERAFRZEE I RESEZETHEMS -

RREES
EREZERARAF

B
FTERITHAAE

20226 H27H



5/

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

O GrantThornton
2 [=]

To the members of Tree Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tree Holdings Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages
64 to 155, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Qur responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

B EFTEH
MREBAZHEERBERMANERHE  RAY
AHEEMBRRNEAZAETENEE - &
LERATERMEAERGAVBRRLER
EANETREN HMTEHELERREMR
BERENER -

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
ERENEE BN ERNTEEBERENSEE
Impairment assessment of goodwill

BERE

Refer to Notes 2.19, 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

256 M HRRM 7219 - 3/K%16 ©

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had goodwill of approximately
HK$23,426,000 arising from the acquisition of a subsidiary.
M20229F3A31H - EEEEWE -HNB QR MmESLS
75 2 %923,426,0007% 7T ©

The Group is required to perform impairment assessment of goodwill
at least annually. For the purpose of impairment assessment, goodwill
has been allocated to the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of furniture
agency services. The management had made an assessment of the
recoverable amount of the underlying CGU, with reference to an
independent external valuation conducted at the end of the reporting
period. Management concluded that the goodwill was not impaired as
at 31 March 2022.
EREEAZLBFHHEETRENG - RETRE
i BEESEZEHRERERBOREELEN - B
BED2BRNREHRETOE LN EER (A B
ReELBUNANEEE - BIRENARAN202F
3AE  BEYEME -

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit
matter due to its significance to the consolidated financial statements
and the significant estimates and judgements involved in the
calculation of recoverable amount of the underlying CGU about future
market conditions, including the growth rate of revenue and discount
rate applied in the calculation.
HREERENEHGEMBREAMEBEAR  BtH
THRAR & E £ B AL AT WOl & 5808 N B R 2R O B B KA
ARAE (BEAEPMEANESERERIFTRE)
MU P B B E AT R R AR E A 1 o

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of goodwill
included the following:

BMBAERERENMNEREFERBEATSE:

Evaluating the competence, capabilities, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer;
BN L ERE KT - 88 BREEELERE

37

Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used in the impairment assessment;

AEARNREFENEETERGES

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions adopted
by the management in calculating the recoverable amount based
on our knowledge of the business and industry;
ERBMEEBRITENRMTHERELAAFEA
WO HERKRANETERESSAE:

Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy and reliability of the
input data used; and

MERAAMABABBEEENERNIATE R

Testing management sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions
to ascertain that selected adverse changes to key assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the
recoverable amount of the underlying CGU.
AHEBEHTERBOGREDN - AR TR
FERBNIME (A SEHReELEMNER
CPHBREARCESENNATKREEE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

B R BARE

BERETEE®

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
BERETEE BN ERUMEEBREETSE
Allowance of inventories

FEHIK

Refer to Notes 2.11, 3 and 18 to the consolidated financial

statements.

2H&EA

Bf f& TR R M 5E2.11 ~ 3218 ©

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had inventories of approximately ~—

HK$10,349,000. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net
realisable value.

M20224E3A31H - B SR E#) 17 & 49 /310,349,000 7T ©
FEAKRARKAI SR FEMEPHOREESE -

Allowance for inventories requires management to make significant
accounting estimates and judgements. These include identification
of damaged, slow moving and obsolete inventories and assessing
the level of allowance required by estimating the net realisable value
of inventories, which is the actual or estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.
FEREEXERBFLHERGHALAE  B5F
BB BHEHKREFEURZBHHATFEATZR
FEEINAEESTNERS A S ERIELHESH
T h ET A A R P B KT o

We identified the allowance of inventories as a key audit matter as
the estimation of the net realisable value of inventories involved
significant estimates and judgements made by management. These
estimations are also subject to uncertainty as a result of change of
competitor actions and market condition.
HREAEEAERFESRBEREEBFELENE XML
SR FE - MBEMSFEFHEEB AEREAEE B
BEATNEBREETARTRAZHT RO TREREY
2 o

Our audit procedures in relation to allowance of inventories included
the following:

BPMEBFERENERZEFERUATEE:

Assessing the reasonableness of the basis used by management
in identifying damaged, slow moving and obsolete inventories;
EEBERBANESR FHAREFEREHAY

EERTAIE:

Attending the year-end inventory count to observe the physical
conditions of inventories and identify damaged or obsolete

inventories;
— CEEFAFESRH UBERFEEMNERRRL L7
BHIREFE:

Testing the accuracy of the inventory ageing report, on a sample
basis, by checking to the purchase source documents;
FRREBERRXM  MEAREFEERREE
B

Testing the net realisable value of inventory items, on a sample
basis, to the selling price subsequent to the year end; and
MERASRFEEEERFEREFABREE R

Evaluating the appropriateness of management's assessment
of the estimated future utilisation of inventory items
without subsequent sales with reference to their ageing and
marketability of the relevant inventory items.
2EFEHENERIEEE  FBEREERNL
BEBHESNBERATHEBEFEHEBEN MG RKEA
BERAEENFEESTEE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

AREETEEH»)

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
BEETTER BMWERNAEEBRENSHE
Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

ESRHEMERRERERE

Refer to Notes 2.10, 3 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

28486 M IS mE M 7210 ~ 3K%19 o

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$37,366,000 (net of ECL allowance of approximately
HK$490,000), which falls within the scope of expected credit losses
("ECL") model for impairment assessment.

M2022F3ANA - EXENESREMEKRFIBNR
37,366,000 7T (B T8 235 B 518 15 49490,000/8 7T )

RBETHEMEBENEREESEEREER -

The Group recognises ECL allowance based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation based on the Group’s past history, existing market
condition and forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting

period

EEER ’JH R MTEEEEREREREE
%Eﬁﬁ SEREHBRRRERREFTEMAS
A%Eﬁ'%m EEEBRALR BROMmAKSE®RSE

HIRH AT RE (St B ER A -

We identified the provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables as a key audit matter due to its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and significant degree of
management’s estimation and judgement are involved in assessing
the ECL allowance.
HRESREMERRENRERGE GRS B REK
mMEBEXR BEFGEHEEERERSPRBERREE
HE R R FE - AP E 5 & H A FE 4 50 IE 8 R
BRGNS ERETFE -

Our audit procedures in relation to provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables included the following:
BHMEBRESRAMEBERRBEREREENSEZIETEE
AT &8

Understanding management's assessment of ECL allowance on
trade and other receivables;
THREEBEHES R HMERE
B

XIBRHMEEEER

Assessing the reasonableness of estimates and judgement
made by management on ECL allowance by examining the
information used by management to form such judgements;
FRECEBRENATAREEBEEEIELNHE
e A E R .%15%*5%?ﬁﬁ%ﬁf;ﬁl&ﬂﬁﬁ}fﬂ’ﬁ
EE st RHE RS A

Testing, on a sample basis, the ageing report by comparing with
the relevant invoices and other supporting documents; and
73 b SRR A B 2R B H A FE A SO IBORI R R
WwE: R

Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy of ECL allowance
using the ECL rates adopted by the Group.

R E£EMRANEREEEEY WMkt
RHEEFEBHESTERE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the 2022 annual report of the Company, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

B R BARE

Htt 58

E=ZFYUHEBELRRRE - HMEEREMAT
RN BERAFNRFFRANGEE - ETEELR
BB RERRBMNZBEMRS -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR B FR A & Annual Report £ %k 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

27 June 2022

Kwok Siu Kwan, Sylvia
Practising Certificate No.: P06616
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SGEREREMEZERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
M & FET FE T
Revenue W = 4 95,913 120,551
Cost of sales 5 & B AR (32,391) (46,330)
Gross profit EF 63,522 74,221
Other income H AU A 5 m 4,538
Selling and marketing expenses & N T 5 HEE 2 (33,400) (37,791)
Administrative expenses THRAX (26,775) (18,921)
Fair value change on contingent ERAREN R AEBEE
consideration payable 3,362 (2,633)
Reversal of provision/(Provision) for 2 5 fE W R IR R B BB
impairment of trade receivables BE () 410 (200)
Finance costs B 75 B 7R 6 (849) (1,310)
Profit before income tax R AT 18 B ADE R 7 6,981 17,904
Income tax expense Fris i f X 9 (1,751) (3,345)
Profit for the year attributable to ERATERBFEA
equity holders of the Company B FERER 5,230 14,559
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKZE
for the year
Items that will be reclassified subsequently — E & #52 %7 77 48 2 18 725 9 A H
to profit or loss
Exchange (loss)/gain on translation ME G INEB T B RR A
of financial statements of foreign & X (&8 W
operations (273) 291
Total comprehensive income for the ARAEERBEAEBEER
year attributable to equity holders of ZHKREHAE
the Company 4,957 14,850
Earnings per share attributable to AREERBFEA
equity holders of the Company EEER2F
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AB R EA ) R)
— Basic and diluted —HEARR#EE 17 0.33 0.92

The notes on pages 68 to 155 are an integral part of these consolidated — S868Z 1558 AT & fi & T AN 47 & B 15 3R 2= A9 48 K
financial statements. o o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

Asat31 March 2022 72202243 A31H

2022 2021
20226 20214F
Notes HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
N3 FETT FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- WENEE 13 14123 14,948
Intangible assets mEEE 14 173 180
Goodwill (RS 16 23,426 23,426
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRENBHRESER 7 1,913 1,847
Prepayments for acquisition of property, WEmE  BE KK
plant and equipment SEERE 19 150 —
Deferred tax assets LT IRE E 25 466 522
40,251 40,923
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 18 10,349 11,818
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b e W sk I8 19 41,899 56,389
Tax recoverable EIRDQCIE ] 282 —
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR MRS 20 22,185 29,140
74,715 97,347
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HAMERFIE 21 23,137 25,617
Contract liabilities afaE 22 8,211 12,138
Bank borrowings RITHEE 23 6,493 8,757
Lease liabilities HEAR 24 8,905 8,153
Tax payable FE - i 18 — 4,19
46,746 58,861
Net current assets REBEEFEE 21,969 38,486
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAR 68,220 79,409
Non-current liabilities kRBAR
Lease liabilities HEGE 24 5,540 5,652
Contingent consideration payable JERT AR AE 32 — 3,362
5,540 9,014
Net assets REE 62,680 70,395
EQUITY Ea
Share capital N 26 15,840 15,840
Reserves 1 27 46,840 54,555
Total equity BRE R 62,680 70,395

Tong Tang Joseph

B
Director

EE

The notes on pages 68 to 155 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

o e

Tsui Wing Tak

Director

EF

SE68E15E PR H M i T AN & B TS SRR 1O 4H K
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

Share Share Capital Exchange Retained Total
capital premium* reserve® reserve® profits* equity
kx  ROEE* EXREr EIRE  REEWN Y £
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
TET TET TET TET TET TET
Balance at 1 April 2020 RW0F4F1EHE 15,840 31,564 5474 — 2,667 55,545
Profit for the year FREF - - - — 14,559 14,559
Other comprehensive income Hitr 2 m4 &
— Exchange gain on translation of —BREBNEBYH
financial statements of foreign BEOE L W&
operations — — — 291 — 291
Total comprehensive income FRE2ENHLAH
for the year — — — 291 14,559 14,850
Balance at 31 March 2021 and RWNEIANAR
1 April 2021 WNFE4R1ANE S 15,840 31,564 5474 291 17,226 70,395
Profit for the year EREF — — — - 5,230 5,230
Other comprehensive income H2EWE
— Exchange loss on translation of —REBNEBETE
financial statements of foreign RENELEE
operations — - - (213) - (213)
Total comprehensive income FRZENEAR
for the year - - - (273) 5230 4,957
— Dividend paid (Vote 1) —BRREW #0) — — — - (12,672) (12,672)
Balance at 31 March 2022 R202253ANBHE R 15,840 31,564 5,474 18 9,784 62,680

*

HEEEOEAEERGEM B MR ARPHHEE
46,840,0007% 7T (20214F : 54,555,000 L) °

The reserves accounts comprise the Group’s reserves of HK$46,840,000 (2021: *
HK$54,555,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

S8 155 FT# M i T AN & B IS SRR MO 4E K

financial statements. o o

The notes on pages 68 to 155 are an integral part of these consolidated
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

=

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 IFF /&

2022 2021
2022 20214F
HK$ 000 HK$000
FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHFEHRERE
Profit before income tax BR P75 B A 4 A 6,981 17,904
Adjustments for: HTHIEBELNFEE:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BERZENE 11717 13,359
Amortisation of intangible assets BREEEE 63 152
Interest income FLEWA 3) (49)
Interest expenses FERX 849 1,310
COVID-19-related rent concessions COVID-194E 8 F & E Rl — (91)
Provision for impairment of property, ME BERZERERE
plant and equipment 128 —
(Reversal of provision)/Provision ZHRNABERE(BERE) BE
for impairment of trade receivables (410) 200
Fair value change on contingent BRI AREBHNAAEBEED
consideration payable (3,362) 2,633
Fair value gain on cash surrender value ABSRBROBHARGEBENRAER
of life insurance W &= (66) (58)
Operating cash flows before working capital changes EEESEYIMNLERERE 15,957 35,360
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories T—f B () 1,469 (19)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables féf 5 & H A FEWCRIBR L (3 ) 15,050 (4,015)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 5 REMEMREE N (RD) 4,389 (2,184)
(Decrease)/Increase in contract liabilities A SEHBECRD),/HEm (3,927) 7,458
Cash generated from operations KREMBRE 32,938 36,600
Income tax paid BRER (6,173) (1,432)
Interest received B H B 3 49
Net cash from operating activities METHFRH L FRE 26,768 35217
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHFMBEERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BERRHE (407) (442)
Prepayments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment U EE ¥ % BB Rk BB FE (150) —
Payment for acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 33(c)) U B8 — R B B8 A B B9 A 3R (B 22 331c)) (50) —
Subsequent payment for acquisition U i — TP B 1 ) O B4R S R (B 2232)
of a subsidiary (Note 32) (7,000) (12,339)
Net cash used in investing activities RETHIHH L FHE (7,607) (12,781)
Cash flows from financing activities METEME ﬁ % e
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEE Y f:r 21,369 39,209
Repayment of bank borrowings BEFETEE (23,633) (36,156)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEAE E’J§$§Eﬁ (10,033) (11,859)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEBBNFEIHY (609) (900)
Interests paid BfHE (240) (410)
Dividend paid ERRE (12,672) -
Net cash used in financing activities BETHAH L FEE (25,818) (10,116)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERBELEEBYORY) EmFHE
cash equivalents (6,657) 12,320
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes IEEREFHTE (298) 47
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning REVNNEERREEED
of the year 29,140 16,773
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year, FRASRESEEY  URTERR
represented by bank balances and cash BERER 22,185 29,140
The notes on pages 68 to 155 are an integral part of these consolidated 556851558 BT = M 51 Jh AN 4r A& B F& 3R = By 48 7K

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Tree Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company's registered office is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.0.
Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The address of its
principal place of business is 28/F., Horizon Plaza, 2 Lee Wing Street, Ap

Lei Chau, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sale,
distribution and rental of furniture and home accessories, distribution
and licencing of intellectual property rights, the provision of styling,
consulting and furniture agency services and the operation of a café.

The directors consider the immediate and ultimate holding company
of the Company to be Tiptop Honour Limited (“Tiptop”), a company

incorporated in Samoa.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 were approved for issue by the board of directors on 27 June 2022.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
21 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the accounting principles

generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“Stock Exchange”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

21

Basis of preparation (continued)

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption
of amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group's consolidated
financial statements, if any, are disclosed in Note 2.2.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for cash surrender value of
life insurance and contingent consideration payable which are
carried at fair value. The measurement bases are fully described
in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on the management’s
best knowledge and judgement of current events and actions,
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

2. FTESHTHEME )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy

Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual
periods beginning on 1 April 2021

(a)

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time
the following amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
which are relevant to the Group’s operations and effective
for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
annual period beginning on 1 April 2021:

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS
39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

Other than as mentioned below, the adoption of the
amended HKFRSs had no material impact on how the
results and financial position for the current and prior

periods have been prepared and presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued)

(a)

Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual
periods beginning on 1 April 2021 (Continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021"

The amendment extends the availability of the practical
expedient in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 so that it
applies to rent concessions for which any reduction in
lease payments affects only payments originally due on
or before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions
as stated in paragraph 468 of HKFRS 16 for applying the
practical expedient are met.

A lessee that chooses to apply this practical expedient
would be required to apply it consistently to all lease
contracts with similar characteristics and in similar
circumstances, irrespective of whether the contract
became eligible for the practical expedient as a result
of the lessee applying this amendment or Amendment
to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions”.
Additional disclosures are required if this practical
expedient is used.

Consequently, rent concessions received have been
recognised in “other income” in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments occurred. There is no impact on the opening
balance of equity at 1 April 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued)
(b)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs
have been published but are not yet effective, and have
not been adopted early by the Group:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and
related amendments?
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework*
Amendments to HKFRS  Sale or Contribution of Assets
10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies?
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction?

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before
Intended Use'

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Amendments to HKFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to

HKFRS Standards 2018—
2020
Accounting Guideline5  Merger Accounting for
(Revised) Common Control

Combination*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

3 Effective date not yet determined

4 Effective for business combination/common control
combination for which the acquisition/combination date
is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued)

(b)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the
first period beginning on or after the effective date of
the pronouncement. Information on new and amended
HKFRSs that are expected to have impact on the Group's
accounting policies is provided below. Other new and
amended HKFRSs are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
“Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
material accounting policy information instead of
significant accounting policies in its financial statements.
The amendments also provide some guidance on how
material policy information are being identified and
provide some examples of when accounting policy
information is likely to be material.

In March 2021, HKICPA issued HKFRS Practice Statement
2 "Making Materiality Judgements” to provide entities
with non-mandatory guidance on how to make materiality
judgements when preparing their general purpose
financial statements in accordance with HKFRS. HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 was subsequently revised to provide
guidance and examples on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued)

(b)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
“Disclosure of Accounting Policies” (Continued)

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and
are applied prospectively. Earlier application is permitted.
Except for the disclosures of accounting policies in Note
2 to consolidated financial statements may need to be
revised to cope with the above changes, the directors
expect that the amendments have no other material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2.3 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
When assessing whether the Group has power over the entity,
only substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary
in the consolidated financial statements from the date it gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEEFGHEMER

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Basis of consolidation (continued)
Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and

23 SZERENEE (%)

SEANRRRENRZS BHARE

losses on transactions between group companies are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where
unrealised losses on sales of intra-group asset are reversed on
consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment
from the Group's perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by
the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries
are carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary
is held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted
to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting
date. All dividends whether received out of the investee's pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or
loss.

ENSIGEE IR S P 8 oF
RBEEEMBRREEHE - £
EEERNEENARERERNES
FREBEONBRT HEEEN
ERAEEAZETRENR - M
BRAIMBHRRAZMNESRES
VR E - AR E RS BIRAH
EEAERR -

BRIEM B AR T L E AT AW
EEE TRINBARAREARFH
§ 75 AR L 3R 1R 4% B AN R A AR BB 1S
B - AGERE  ARBREK
AREEIMEENREZS - KX
ANBREEEERBERA -

MEARMNEEHARR RN RE
FEWFEUKEBMEEAR -
BEERE(BERELRREHRNKE
Al % 4558 12 0 A A M) Th AR A ]
BaEARK-

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 SR #Z IR H PR X &) Annual Report €3 2022



/6

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition—date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHHEREBER)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Business combinations (Continued)

24 ¥XS6t)

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and considered as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the measurement
period about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date. Measurement period does not exceed one
year from the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounting for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as a financial liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates at fair value with corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HKS$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands
("HK$000"), except when otherwise indicated.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the reporting date retranslation of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated (i.e. only translated
using the exchange rates at the transaction date).

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group’s presentation currency,
have been converted into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date.
Income and expenses have been converted into the HK$ at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average
rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates
do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this
procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in the exchange reserve in equity.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR B FR A & Annual Report £ %k 2022

2.

FESHEEHME )
25 Sy

RAVBBRRUAARANINEEE
B2y BRRIFSHEREA - TR
EREANEBESRONTA(F
Bl -

mﬁéi$WMMW%ﬁ$W'%
BXZRAXSHEAMNBITEXR®R
ERENEENDEES - RBE
B DSBS ENEBEENREA
ERZANETSRE FHEZER
ZFUERBERHEFRGREERER
ENABEELNIINERSZREBBRR

BEER -

E@EEX$J¢A9|\M%—+§W#T%I§
BREEHIEE (EAZHEE M
ERRE) -

REEVBHREAN RUAEEZ
I AN B 25808 I ETE
BIPR A E R 8 7 R B AR RETT -
EEMBEBEDRREBHNHKTE
FMERBTT - WXL FHEERE
R B EHRNTHERTLRR
B AIIRAEXRSESE XK -
EREAEEFmMESENEZEDRE
ftb 2 TED W A\ T R e 1 RE s 19 B 1R
BEBRA -



/9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESTHEHBEw)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment

26 W¥E BMERRE

Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of right-of- Y BB KA (M FE2040T (e
use assets as described in Note 2.14) are initially recognised FAEE E MK ANBR M) VIR 1R LB A
at acquisition cost. They are subsequently stated at cost less AER - HEUKN TR EFITER

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Furniture and fixtures and office equipment 20%-30%

Motor vehicles 30%

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets is set
out in Note 2.14.

Estimates of residual value and useful life are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance,
are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.7 Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an
asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date).
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition

date.

If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase

gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested

annually for impairment (Note 2.19).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount
of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the

amount of gain or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Website development costs

Costs that are directly attributable to development of specific
websites, which include external direct costs of materials and
services consumed in developing the website are recognised
as intangible assets provided they meet all of the following
recognition requirements:

i

) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective
product for internal use or sale;

(ii) there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

(i)~ the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is
demonstrated:;

(iv)  the intangible asset will generate probable economic
benefits through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

(vi)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be
reliably measured.

Capitalised website development costs with finite useful lives
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 years.
Research and other development costs relating to website
development and website maintenance costs are expensed as
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continved)

2.8

29

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(Continued)

Trademarks

Trademarks are recognised initially at cost. After initial
recognition, the trademarks with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years. Amortisation
commences when the trademarks are available for use. The
amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Trademarks are tested for impairment as described below in Note
2.19.

Money lender licence
Money lender licence with indefinite useful life is carried at cost
less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Money lender licence is tested for impairment as described
below in Note 2.19.

Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset and substantially all of its risks and rewards
are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHTHEHME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continved) 29 €T HE (%)

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component and are measured at the
transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”, all financial assets are initially
measured at fair value, in case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), plus transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL
are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as
hedging instruments, are classified into the following categories:

—  amortised cost;

—  FVTPL; or

— fair value through other comprehensive income.

The classification is determined by both:

—  the entity's business model for managing the financial
asset; and

—  the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are
recognised in profit or loss are presented within “finance costs”,
“other income” or other financial items, except for expected
credit losses (“ECL") of trade and other receivables which is
presented as a separate line item in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continuead)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets
meet the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

—  they are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual

cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in “other income” in profit or
loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is
immaterial. The Group's trade and other receivables and bank

balances and cash fall into this category of financial assets.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business model
other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell’ are
categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of business model,
financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL.
The Group's cash surrender value of life insurance falls into this

category of financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TEEHHRBE#

POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continved) 29 €@ IE %)
Financial liahilities cEmas
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities TEBEN DR E

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
bank borrowings, lease liabilities and contingent consideration
payable.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for
transaction costs unless the Group designated a financial liability
at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
except for derivatives which are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships and financial liabilities
designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value
with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an
instrument's fair value that are reported in profit or loss are
included within finance costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note 2.14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities (Continued)

Bank borrowings

Bank borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Bank borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the bank borrowings using the

effective interest method.

Bank borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the

liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the

effective interest method.

Contingent consideration payable

Contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value
at the end of each reporting period with gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in profit

or loss.

2.10 Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use forward-looking
Instruments
within the scope included loans and other debt-type financial

information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”.

assets measured at amortised cost and trade receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information when
assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events,
current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that
affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the

instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESTHEHBEw)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)

210 EMEERE R

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made
between:

—  financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or
that have low credit risk (“Stage 1"); and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly
in credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit
risk is not low (“"Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective
evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category while
“lifetime ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial
instrument.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential
for default at any point during the life of the financial assets. In
calculating the ECL, the Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience and external
indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables are assessed individually
or have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for loans receivables and
other receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial assets at the reporting date with
the risk of default occurring on the financial assets at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory,
business, financial, economic conditions, or technological
environment that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt
obligations; and

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

210

21

212

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its
contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when (i) information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collateral held by the Group); or {ii) the
financial asset is 365 days past due.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables and
other financial assets measured at amortised cost are set out in
Note 34.2.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less applicable selling expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and in hand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

213

214

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified
asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration’.

To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract
meets three key evaluations which are whether:

° the contracts contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified
by being identified at the time the asset is made available
to the Group;

° the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within
the defined scope of the contract; and

° the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assess
whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHTHEHME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued) 214 HE(»#)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)
For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.
However, for leases of warehouse, office and shop premises in
which the Group is a lessee, the Group elected not to separate
non-lease components and will instead account for the lease and
non-lease components as a single lease component.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of
financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost,
which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end of
the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-
line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of
the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of
the lease term unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses
the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease
liahility at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.

HEETERETEEFERAEAE)
HRSAMEERD R — A=A LR
SMEESFMERINEL - KA E
BB ENFEEKDNEE B
BERBANREIEESKD ° A
- HRAREBRSEABANEE
WMAEREMBEE AEEEET
RIEHERD D FH - MAGHERIE
HMERDARIMEE-—HERD -

FEREZERAMANEE
REERBRE  AEERGEAH
BRARERERAREEREER
e EAEEERKAGTE MK
ATBEREAEAENVIGHTE K
SEELANTANBERERA B
EERBIFREBEREBEENE
{A] i & B AN LA e 0 FR B B 46 E 8 A
EEMEREENK(EHBREFNE
Wil &R -

AEENEREEEREERSBA
HMEERABREENAERFHER
FHEBAERCAREERE) B A
EREEFENE  RIFAKESE
BT R EREREAIESHES
RAIER R - AKE TN HRBE
BREFHEERBEENRE -

RAKBEY  AEEBRZBAXNM
HMEMNFWREFEREEE I
ERREPOREE R R (&R
TAEE)AEENEEEENXE
TTHIR -

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 SR #Z IR H PR X &) Annual Report €3 2022



92

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.14 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
payments based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced
for lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the
lease liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed
payments. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities whenever:

° there are changes in lease term or in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment.

° the lease payments changes due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHTHEHME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued) 214 HE(»#)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

For lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
modification. The only exception is any rent concessions which
arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
which satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS
16 “Leases”. In such cases, the Group took advantage of the
practical expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and
recognised the change in consideration as if it were not a lease
modification.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-
of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset
and lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use
assets have been included in property, plant and equipment.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value
at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The Group as a lessor
As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either operating or
finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the
underlying asset, and classified as an operating lease if it does
not.

The Group earns rental income from operating leases of furniture
and home accessories. Rental income is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

215

2.16

217

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount
of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
to reflect the current best estimate.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of
shares are deducted from share premium (net of any related
income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs
directly attributable to the equity transaction.

Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from the sale, distribution and rental of
furniture and home accessories, distribution and licencing of
intellectual property rights, the provision of styling, consulting
and furniture agency services and the operation of a café.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a
5-step process:

Identifying the contract with a customer

Identifying the performance obligations

Determining the transaction price

Allocating the transaction price to the performance
obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s)
are satisfied

e

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their
relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for
a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third
parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHHEREBER)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.17 Revenue recognition (Continued)

217 WEBR (2

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time,
when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by
transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Sale of furniture and home accessories

Revenue from the sale of furniture and home accessories is
recognised at a point in time when the Group transfers the
control of the assets to the customers upon delivery.

Distribution and license fee income

Fixed upfront distribution and license fee is recognised over time
on a straight-line basis over the terms of distribution agreement
and license period. License fee income from the licensing
arrangement is recognised over time on an accrual basis in
accordance with the terms of agreements.

Food and beverage income

Food and beverage income from the operation of a café is
recognised at a point in time when the related services are
rendered to the customers.

Commission income

Commission income from (i) consignment sales are recognised
at a point in time when the goods are sold by the Group; and (ii)
furniture agency services is recognised at a point in time when
the services are performed.

Consulting income
Consulting income is recognised at a point in time when the
services are performed.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using
the effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
ECL allowance) of the asset.

EEBEAEEEAEFBED
AHEEmARBEITEOEEE
WX — R HE R RBERGEER -

7N 52 B M R L A U HE B2 ISR
E—FFHBOT:

RERRELRHIHEE
ERASERNRNRKHEEZHZS
ETEPK REMREEMIHEE
MU S TE R — R R B FERR -

DHERATEERA

& £ B BT B 0 3 KR FF R AR B Y ) 8
WheE R AT A AR N LA B AR B A B
B I HE AR o IR TR ek R 30 - R AJ 48
RHMELNFAIRBR ARG
HEREREER -

BEREA
REMBEEMSERRANRREPIR
HEERBHEERX —SHEHER -

AEHA
KENFENMSWARKEEH
ERmBERX —RHEMHER KR
BRERBHESKRARETRS
7 3 — B B -

AABA
B AREITRE S E X — K H
BFER o

FE WA

S AE B BR R ZOX DA B e
DIEERER - IR BHEK AT ER
BHREERENEREEMS
ERMEXERARZEENREARRE
HREHBRERERENEREEMS
ERNEEANZEENBHEKA
(KR EREEFEEFERRNERR
BE) -

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 SR #Z IR H PR X &) Annual Report €3 2022



96

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Revenue recognition (Continued)
Rental income

Accounting policies for rental income are set out in note 2.14.

2.18 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross under
“Other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income.

2.19 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary, other intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) and the Company's investment in a subsidiary are subject

to impairment testing.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life
or those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment
whenever there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount

may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time

value of money and the risk specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHERBE
POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

219 FEMEERES)

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent from
those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some
assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested
at cash-generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated
to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be identified. Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies of
the related business combination and represent the lowest level
within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purpose and not be larger than an operating
segment.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged
pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to
the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.20 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(the “MPF Scheme”), for all of its employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as employees render services during the year. The Group's
obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage
contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulative compensated absences such as sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Equity-settled share-based compensation

In January 2018, the Group adopted a Share Option Scheme (as
defined in Note 28) under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for
the grant of the equity instruments is recognised as expense.

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference
to the fair value of options granted including any market
performance conditions; excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions; and including the
impact of any non-vesting conditions.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.20 Employee benefits (continued)

2.21

Equity-settled share-based compensation (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. The
Group recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates,
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

2.22 Accounting for income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Accounting for income tax (Continved)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit, including existing taxable temporary differences, will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liahilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or
the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable
income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the average tax rates that are expected to apply to the taxable
income of the periods in which the temporary differences are
expected to reverse.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Accounting for income tax (Continved)

The determination of the average tax rates requires an
estimation of (1) when the existing temporary differences will
reverse and (2) the amount of future taxable profit in those years.
The estimate of future taxable profit includes:

— income or loss excluding reversals of temporary
differences; and

—  reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net
if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(a)  the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(if) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liahilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

FESHEEHME )

222 FRIS gt RE &%)

BEFAREEAMG)HERDER
FEREZENRBERQAZEFEN
RRERBGEN S ER o RRERD
A fEE R

— TERTHZREBEDNHEAR
B R

— REORBEYEEHE-

MR EEERAAREBEABRS
EATERAFREEZS:

(a)  ANEEBEARELAEHTT
MENHHECERSE R

(b  BAFBEEFELRSEE
BENBERAE-

AEEESEUATBERAFERELER
JIRERIBEEMEREHRIBRE:

la) REBBEEERELABRHIHNT
B R ) 1 85 B EA AR T A A R B
HMBEAE &

b) EEHBEEERECEHBAAE
TR BRE— B EE AT
ER— BRI MEHR:

i)  F—ERREERE X

(i) BRERKHREGEHA
B K IB B kM B K
MIELEHBERRELEE)
g A B ER K
HABEREEXRKE
REENBERBENT
Rl R B B8

o

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 SR #Z IR H PR X &) Annual Report €3 2022



102

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
makers (the "CODM"). The CODM, who are responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors that
make strategic decisions.

2.24 Related parties

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, a
party in considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(if) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Related parties (Continued)
(b)  the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group.

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below:

Estimation of goodwill impairment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.19. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined
based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the
use of estimates about future cash flows and discount rates. In the
process of estimating expected future cash flows, management makes
assumptions about future revenues and profits. These assumptions
relate to future events and circumstances. The actual results may vary
and may cause a material adjustment to the carrying amount of goodwill
within the next financial year. Determining the appropriate discount rate
involves estimating the appropriate adjustment for market risk and for
asset specific risk factors. Details of the estimates of the recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units containing goodwill are disclosed in
Note 16.

Valuation of contingent consideration payable

For acquisitions accounted for under HKFRS 3, future anticipated
payments to vendors in respect of earnouts are based on the
management’s best estimates of future obligations, which are
dependent on future performance of the interests acquired and assume
the operating companies improve profits in line with management'’s
estimates and are included in liabilities greater or less than one year as
appropriate. These estimates will likely differ from future actual results
of operations and cash flows, and it is possible that these differences
could be material. Changes to earnouts are recorded in the profit or loss.
Details of contingent consideration payable are set out in Notes 32 and
346.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR B FR A & Annual Report £ %k 2022

3.

E R 5l et & H

BRIRHABDERBEERREMBEER
SENE BRYECEEAHBERATES
HEHRRERNTEY -

i 5T T E
AREEBAR R EHRBR - BAS
£ AUBEOEHEHELREREH
ERER 6T BUREENEERR
RE S E L EABERR NS RE
BRI

fhEt BB R E

AEBIZ RN E 2090 & 5 RS F 8
ABEAGHLREMRE REELFEM
MAl e B ERNEREBETELE
E o REREAERERBAARRASR
RIFBWEMEGF - REFAFEHRERE
mEVBIET - BB EM R R E K E A
EHER - ZFBRRERKEHRBRE
e BERERVUEFAEZE  AAEEH
AHTEMRFEANFENRESREDL
BARE - BEBEETREFRMAEEHD
sREMEEBRERBAZFELNEE
HE -REELEM(BEHB)NAKE
ERMEFTFBRMERE -

ENRARENEHE

IR BEE S B R ELERFEIHARMK
BEIEMS  BEMENN R EEB
BEXNTEANRBHEREREH KRR
EERM&EMA - S TAREERA KRR
FEMEMBREERANBNEZEERE
HErmE - UESEEBRFTAZRE
DPR—FHEE  ZEMHETRAIEEBR
ERCEXERESRTR  BZEER
AREE R BFEENNHRARNESHK
Bk EANIXARENFBEERHNM
513214346 °



105

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continved)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Allowance for inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the actual or estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of competitor
actions in response to changes in market condition. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting period. The
carrying amount of inventories as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are
disclosed in Note 18.

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost within the scope of ECL under
HKFRS 9

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including trade
and other receivables) based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group's past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period as
set out in Note 2.10. As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of
trade and other receivables amounted to HK$37,366,000 (net of ECL
allowance of HK$490,000) (2021: HK$49,662,000 (net of ECL allowance
of HK$900,000)).

When the actual future cash flows are different from expected,
such difference will impact the carrying amount of trade and other
receivables within the scope of ECL under HKFRS 9 and credit losses in
the periods in which such estimate has been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group's business components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business components in the
internal financial information reported to the executive directors are
determined following the Group’s major product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following two (2021: two) reportable
segments:

o Furniture sale and consultancy services: the sale, distribution
and rental of furniture and home accessories, distribution and
licencing of intellectual property rights, the provision of styling
and consulting services and the operation of a café.

o Furniture agency services: the provision of furniture agency
services

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of
the product and service lines requires different resources as well as
marketing approaches.

The measurement policies the Group used for reporting segment results
under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are the same as those used in
its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs, except that income
tax expense and corporate income and expenses which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any reportable segment are not
included in arriving at the operating results of the reportable segment.

Reportable segment assets exclude cash surrender value of life
insurance, deferred tax assets, tax recoverable, bank balances and cash
and unallocated corporate assets (mainly include certain right-of-use
assets, certain intangible assets, loans receivables and certain other
receivables).

Reportable segment liabilities exclude tax payable and unallocated
corporate liabilities (mainly include certain lease liabilities and certain
other payables).

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR B FR A & Annual Report £ %k 2022

4.

WKk o EHER
ERARTEEERURESRAELEEH
EXBEARBONERNERBHZSE
MARE Y R ERNHBER - K%
BREANBEDBERES HBEFR - AH
TEZEZMOAIHBER A EBHEK
BOEBAEENEIEERNMRBRE
=

o Bt

o 823 B 0T AR (202145 : 7 18
®5H

e BREHERFDRYE: KRERKE
FCEIEE D RBEE - DK
AfE A ER - RERAREH
BRTG LA B 48 & — S o0 ok B8

o HREREBERE: REKERERY

HRBEMMRBEFTETRERIAR
MGHED L MZEEEDHSEBEIL
B

AEBERBEEEMFHREERNFSR KL
DEIRRESMEERABOAERREA
REZEVHERSENRBENP T RE
PRERAERR - EMEHASXARLIEE
ERBENEAT2B 0 MOEBEHHOR
ABMARRAXRNERATZHD AFHEE
XERUIABEEA -

AE2ROMBEETEBREASRROELDY
ReEE BERBEE  TREHR -
RITEBERREURRDE AR EE (T
ZERETERAREE BTEVEE
EWERRETHEMEKFIA) -

AE2H0MaE T SREENHIE KD R
AEBEBE(ZERRETHEABRET
H Al & RR) -



4.

107

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.
(Continued)

The Group's principal activities are disclosed in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group's revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

WHERDHER =)

ENT ES-S PN PN By
B -

AEBERNFABBOREIT

2022 2021
20225 20214F
HKS$000 HK$'000
FET FET

Revenue from contracts with customers B F & # U %
Sale of furniture and home accessories FERRERHEES 80,910 97,321
Distribution and license fee income DR EBERA 800 3,200
Food and beverage income Ban RSB A 3,818 2,964
Commission income WA 9,821 14,573
Consulting income A 511 2,493
95,860 120,551

Revenue from other sources H fth 3R R WK &=
Rental income el A 53 —
95,913 120,551

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers within the scope of HKFRS 15
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over
time and at a point in time in the following geographical market:

KAERUWBREERF155
BEEANEFAARE

7 S5 [ ) Mg 255 R 12 0 T 1 R 553 B R
R E BB E SRR

2022 2021
2022 20214F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FAET FE T

Timing of revenue recognition I 2 HE 38 I
At a point in time NE % 95,060 117,351
Over time e BF S 800 3,200
95,860 120,551

Revenue from other sources H fth 2R R WK &=
Rental income AW A 53 —
95,913 120,551

Geographical markets i & T 45

— Hong Kong —&F 90,243 100,656
— The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)  — R 2 A R 2L A ([HR B ) 5,670 19,895
95,913 120,551

The geographical location of customers is based on the location at
which the services were provided or the goods delivered.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no single customer
contributed 10% or more of the Group's revenue.

As at 31 March 2022, 91.1% (2021: 84.3%) of the Group's gross trade
receivables was due from a single customer in the furniture agency
services segment.

EPHMIEM E AR RE RN E M
B b S B

RE 220224 K2021F3B8NE IEFE -
EE-—RPAEBWRZEI%K A £ -

202238318 - EURERIE IR 5 56
N—HE—BFNRBEAEBZEHER
FIB A58 R991.1% (20214F : 84.3%) ©
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4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHEERDEBER =)
(Continued)
Furniture
sale and Furniture
consultancy agency
services services Total
REHER RE
& R % 1R 22 BR 7% et
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
FET FET FET
2022 20224
Reportable segment revenue from external & Q SNERE P EY
customers R 86,227 9,686 95,913
Reportable segment ﬁ%iﬁ’ﬁ%ﬁ
profit/(loss) i (&5 18) 6,995 2,064 9,059
Reportable segment assets AZFDEEE 32,139 54,877 87,016
Reportable segment liabilities G S = 21,326 23,992 51,318
Depreciation & 1,177 — 1,177
Amortisation 8y 63 — 63
Finance costs B 75 K 7R 668 181 849
Additions to non-current segment assets ~ FR AN B IERE D 2
(other than financial instruments and EEGERIAR
deferred tax assets) during the year EIEFEEERIN 9,623 — 9,623
Provision for impairment of property, plant %7 % ~ & = & & &
and equipment B EAE 728 — 728
Reversal of provision for impairment of trade & 5 [ U 7 18 35l (&
receivables B ERE — (410) (410)
2021 20214
Reportable segment revenue from external 2K B 4 3F & F #)
customers BE SR & 106,386 14,165 120,551
Reportable segment profit IS #ﬁ 75 &P v 9,362 9,993 19,355
Reportable segment assets F2®mH A EE 40,465 66,039 106,504
Reportable segment liabilities AZHoEEaE 32,148 30,989 63,137
Depreciation b % 13,359 — 13,359
Amortisation B 5 152 — 152
Finance costs B 75 K AR 1,005 305 1,310
Additions to non-current segment assets ~ FERIRBIFAR I D H
(other than financial instruments and EE(EBRIAR
deferred tax assets) during the year EERIEE ERIN 5,987 — 5,987
Provision for impairment of B 5 e R IR R E B
trade receivables — 200 200
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHEERDEBER =)
(Continued)
Reportable segment profit, assets and liabilities are reconciled to results AIZ2BHEat EERBREAREERD

EEUNNREENRBBEYHRET

and total assets and total liabilities of the Group as follows:

2022 2021

20226 20214F

HKS$ 000 HK$'000

FET FET
Reportable segment profit A 2 3] 5 &% A 9,059 19,355
Unallocated amounts: KB FRIE -
— Corporate income and expense — RAEIWARAX (2,078) (1,451)
Profit before income tax R BT 158 B4 A% R 6,981 17,904
Reportable segment assets AIZHHEEE 87,016 106,504
Unallocated assets: RKOBLEE:
— Cash surrender value of life insurance — ABRENBOHRSEE 1,913 1,847
— Deferred tax assets —IRERIEE E 466 522
— Tax recoverable — A U Bl #% 18 282 —
— Bank balances and cash —RTTEHRLERS 22,185 29,140
— Unallocated corporate assets — KB RAAREE 3,104 257
Total assets WEE 114,966 138,270
Reportable segment liabilities AE2HpHasE 51,318 63,137
Unallocated liabilities: KoblafE:
— Tax payable — TR IE — 4,19
— Unallocated corporate liabilities — KD BEAFAE 968 542
Total liabilities weE 52,286 67,875

The transaction price allocated to the remaining unsatisfied or partially
satisfied performance obligations as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as

follows:

20224 202153 A3MH - D EEEH TR
BHREBIBEHNEBNRSERNOT

2022 2021

20224 20214F

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year —F A — 800

MEBYMHREENBERFAE SR
=R FRURKETEOHZ B ER
TFRE -

As permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied
contracts for periods of one year or less is not disclosed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

The non-current segment assets (other than financial instruments
and deferred tax assets) of the Group are divided into the following
geographical areas:

WEEDEHER @

AEBOFRDIHBEE(ERTANE
ERBBEERINEDBATHR:

2022 2021
20225 20214

HKS$ 000 HK$'000

FET FiET

— Hong Kong —&B 36,264 37,304
—PRC — — 1,250
36,264 38,554

The geographical location of the non-current assets is based on the
physical location of the asset and the location of the operations to which
they are allocated in the case of the intangible assets and goodwill.

FERBEENMIZL F AL E PR R
MRER EEVEERBHENERTA
NEFBE BB AER -

OTHER INCOME 5, Hfulg A
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
Government grants (note) T 48 Bh (B 7E) 470 3,543
Exchange gain 5 U= — 659
COVID-19-related rent concessions received 2 Uk COVID-194/8 B8 7 & & Rk — 91
Bank interest income RITF B U A 3 49
Sundry income B A 222 196
Interest income from loan receivables FEWE KA 2 A 16 —
m 4,538

Note: W&t -

The amount represents government grants in respect of COVID-19 related
subsidies, which includes subsidies under the Distance Business Programme and
Catering Business Subsidy Scheme (2021: Employment Support Scheme, Retail
Sector Subsidy Scheme, one-off subsidy for Transport Trades) under the Anti-
epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong Government.

% & ¥R 156 BICOVID194E B & B) (B 1B B B BUR
PRI BRMRES TR &R E a8 RER
BE P A BYET 8 (20214F - (RPLEEGHE  TEXSE
Bt EIER) - MEHXEIREN —RILEESD))
EVER T B ©

FINANCE COSTS 6. MBAX
2022 2021
20225 20214
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITEEFSRX 240 410
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBEMNTBEID 609 900
849 1,310
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 1. BREISHAER
Profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRATSR AR FI D EME, GEA) AT
BB EN
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Auditor's remuneration % ELEM B &
— Audit services — B ZRB 750 700
— Non-audit services — B ZIRTE 38 33
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BMRAHINFEERA 31,047 45,183
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME- BMELEHETE
— Owned assets —BEAE 741 1,140
— Right-of-use assets —ERAREE 10,430 12,219
Amortisation of intangible assets B A E 63 152
Lease charges: HEX W 12,219 8,204
— Short term leases — R HEE 88 72
— COVID-19-related rent concessions received — 2 UZCOVID-19/R B F &
(note) BR (i) — (91)
Provision for impairment of property, ME - WMENK
plant and equipment BERE 728
(Reversal of provision)/Provision B EKFERE
for impairment of trade receivables (BERR) BE (410) 200
Net exchange loss/(gain) N &R (k) FE 1,519 (659)
Fair value gain on cash surrender value ASRBHBENESEERD
of life insurance NABEERZE (66) (58)
Fair value change on contingent ERNRARENAREE
consideration payable L) (3.362) 2,633

Note:

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions” and Amendment to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021 and applied the practical expedients introduced by the
amendments to all eligible rent concessions received by the Group. During the
year ended 31 March 2021, the rent concessions received by the Group are in the
form of a discount on fixed payments during the period of severe social distancing
and travel restriction measures introduced to prevent the spread of COVID-19.

B it -

REBEERWNESUBHREENFROEST
AN [Covid-1948 B3 TH & B Rl | o & 78 B 75 4 &5 2 Al
1657 B9 1& 5T A8 [20214F6 A 30 B 14 # Covid-1948 B3
HEeER) THAEBRERHNAMEAERKH
SERERZSEITASIANERETHZE
REZE2021F3A3NBLEFE  AEBREANHE
£ BB A 2 2 7R A& By LECOVID-19 85 4% M 4 Bk
& 4 22 1P B K AR B2 PR 51 £S5 e HARS - B E K
BT
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 8. EEEAMZ(BEESE

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) <)

2022 2021

20225 20214F

HKS$ 000 HK$'000

FETT FET

Salaries, bonus and allowances & - JEAL N 2B 27,334 22,339

Retirement benefit scheme contributions B ORAE B 5T &8I 4 5K 878 818

28,212 23,157

20224 2021 F3 A3H » AEEIWE
B8 W {31 AT 306 R 2R R B AV R K

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future

years. TEtEIf -
9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FIEFExX
2022 2021
20226 20214F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Current tax — Hong Kong MEAFHE —FB
Current year AEE 1,551 3,471
Under/(Over) provision in respect of prior years BAEFERBETR/
(ERRE ) 144 (20)
1,695 3,451
Deferred tax EEB1E
Current year (Note 25) KFE (T 5F25) 56 (106)
Income tax expense B Hi X 1,751 3,345

BIAF B ERRERGFEN S

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable

tax rates is as follow: R BR AT
2022 2021
20226 20214F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Profit before income tax BRET 8B AR R 6,981 17,904
Tax on profit before income tax, calculated atthe & FT 15 B¢ A& F1) &9 B 18
rates applicable to profits in the tax jurisdictions ~ (JZ BB 4 ml A K=
concerned AR EGTE) 1,708 4,081
Tax effect of non-taxable income EARBTBKANE B & (73) (654)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAIMBRAIOBHEEE 137 103
Tax effect of two-tiered tax regime T 75 W AR bl B B 7S B 2 (165) (165)
Under/(Over) provision in respect of prior years BAEFEREEIZS
(BB ) 144 (20)
Income tax expense TSR 1,751 3,345
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Cayman Islands income tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

REHEZe

Mt
(a)

MEHEMEH
ARABRERAEHSRAENRSES
AR AERRERAR - AL EH
RHREEHESHEN -

(b)  British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) income tax (b) HEEEBARBEMEH
The Company’s direct subsidiary was incorporated under the BVI ARNT R EZH B QR TR 152004 F 5
Business Companies Act, 2004 and accordingly, is exempted from BVI BHEBRESHELRETMAE L -
income tax. HEREHNABEBRESHER -
(¢)  Hong Kong Profits Tax c) BEMNBH
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended 31 March HE202F R2021F3A3BIEFENTE
2022 and 2021 is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable FEHBEDIRFAGFERBREF N
profits for the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a 16.5%T & - HEAREE B AT RF
qualifying corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. BEHMAE TAREERRARIN o £ 75
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of BRARHT  2EREREHE2E8ET
profits of qualifying entities are taxed at 8.25%, and the profits above EAEHEA825% - BE 28 BE TR
HK$2,000,000 are taxed at 16.5%. F % /316.5% ©
(d)  PRC enterprise income tax (d) FESERESHR
No provision for PRC enterprise income tax has been made as the ARARTRRPBEKZAHEENRE AR
Company's indirect subsidiary established in the PRC did not generate REZE2022F X 2021F3A3B I FEALE
any estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31 March 2022 and EXEA GRS - I &R
2021. B XIS
DIVIDENDS R E
(a) Dividends attributable to the year (a) AXEEEMLRE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
Proposed final dividend of nil per ordinary ZZE KR EEREREB S
share (2021: HK0.8 cents) (20214F : 0.8/ 1L) — 12,672

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period
has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting
period, but reflected as an appropriation of retained profits for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

R ERAREBEEZORAR AR
HFHARMABRAAGE  HERE
BEHE2FIANBIEFENRE
= K o B e
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10. DIVIDENDS (continued) 10. RE (@)

(b) Dividends attributable to the previous (b)) E—EMBFEREMN-
financial year, approved and paid during the RERMELIRSTHRE
year

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET F& T
Final dividend in respect of the previous F— S BFEERGRE

financial year, of HK0.8 cents per B IR0.8 % L

ordinary share (2021 nil) (20214 - #) 12,672 —
11. EARNINGS PER SHARE n. ERER

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit EREXRBFDIEREE2022F3A318 1

attributable to equity holders of the Company of HK$5,230,000 (2021: F RN A HE S FF B A 15 4 75,230,000

HK$14,559,000) and on the weighted average number of 1,584,000,000 7 7T (20214F : 14,559,000/ 7T) R 2 3 17 X%

(2021: 1,584,000,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 3 % hn #E S 15 01,584,000,000/% (20214 -

March 2022. 1,584,000,0008% ) 5T & o

Diluted earnings per share equals to the basic earnings per share as R E £2022F M202163R831B IEFEE I

there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence during the BMABTHESTENLRER KRS

years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. ERANERGRELREF -
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12. EEMEREEBEETFMAL

(a)

Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

[k

ESsME

RIZGEM LR A « BB REHEHIE
BMNIEE AR (HEEESFZER
ROIE2MBEEONEETH ST

Other emoluments

Htt# &
Retirement
Salariesand  benefit scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
RIKEF
e HeREE B EEA @t
Notes HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
htit FET FET FET FET
2022 20225
Executive directors: HITES:
Ms. Babington Babington 2Z - 312 2233 18 2563
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph BELE (i 2520 — — 2520
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak mRBLE 1320 — = 1320
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Mr. Bian Dahai BRBEE 120 - — 120
Independent non-executive BUHTES:
directors:
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth HEELLE 160 - - 160
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BEEEE 160 — = 160
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles X REE 160 — — 160
4,752 2233 18 1,003
2021 20215
Executive directors: HITES:
Ms. Babington Babington 2 - 120 2126 18 2,264
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph EEEE (i 120 — — 120
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak REEEE 120 — — 120
Non-executive director: FUTES:
Mr. Bian Dahai BRERAE (i) 60 — — 60
Independent non-executive BYFHTES:
directors:
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth EBELE 14 — — 144
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BEEEE 144 — — 144
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles B REE 144 — — 144
852 2,126 18 2,99
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE 12. EEMEREBBESHFMAL

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS [ A )

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continved) (a) EEM 2
Notes: bt -
(i) Mr. Tong Tang Joseph was also the chief executive officer. (i) BEEEDABITERER
(ii) Mr. Bian Dahai was appointed as a non-executive director on 1 (ii) BRBRAER2020FI0A1BEZE

October 2020. RIEMITES

There were no arrangements under which a director of the R H £2022F X202193A8318 1F F
Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the E - UEBBEARNTESTHNELRA
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. BEREEMFTHO LT

(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments b) EEBEESFHMALHE

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include three (2021: one) directors, whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
aggregate emoluments payable to the remaining two (2021: four)
individuals during the year are as follows:

rEEBFANRETZRTMATFE
BZR20QF  —2)EFE - Eil¢
REXZFHSITRE - BEFR
JE 8T @& (20214F - U Z) A8
B mEEmT

2022 2021
20226 20214
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances e MoEA 1,079 1,713
Discretionary bonus ) 15 7€ 41 104 82
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RN AE R T8 R 36 69
1,219 1,864
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e FLUATHE:
2022 2021
20226 20214
Emolument bands B 4 &5
Nil — HK$1,000,000 = —1,000,0007% JT 2 4

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any directors or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 I F /&

13. ¥ BERRZRE

Furniture and
Leasehold fixtures and Motor Right-of-use
improvements  office equipment vehicles assets Total
GEREE%E
HENEEL HURBLRK "E  RRAEEE @t
HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS000
FET FET FET FET FET
At1 April 2020 R2020%F4A1R
Cost XA 8415 3728 549 35,048 47,740
Accumulated depreciation ZHHE (7112) (3251) (537) (14,520) (25,420)
Net hook amount REFE 1,303 477 12 20528 2320
Year ended 31 March 2021 BZANFIANALERE
Opening net book amount ENREEE 1,303 a 12 20528 230
Additions "E 87 355 — 1,542 1,984
Madification of lease terms EREERT — — — 4,003 4,003
Depreciation il (842) (290) ] (12219) (13359
Closing net hook amount FREEFHE 048 52 4 13,85 14,948
At 31 March 2021 R201F38318
Cost KA 155 3,978 549 40593 52672
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (7,004 (3.436) (545) (26,739) (37.724)
Net book amount REFHE 548 542 4 13,854 14,948
Year ended 31 March 2022 BEANFIANALEE
Opening net book amount ENRESE 548 54 4 13,854 14,948
Additions NE 34 365 8 1,457 1,864
Impairment HE — - - (128) (728)
Modification of lease terms ERHEERR — — - 9,216 9216
Depreciation il (318) (424) (5) (10,430) (11.477)
Closing net hook amount ERREFE 264 183 1 13,369 14123
At 31 March 2022 RA2F3ANH
Cost A 1,586 4329 557 51,266 63,738
Accumulated depreciation and RIMERAE
impairment (1322) (3,846) (550) (37,897) (49,615)
Net book amount FERE 264 483 1 13,369 14123

In view of the continuous operating losses made by the furniture sale
and consultancy services operation in the PRC in recent years, the
management of the Company has conducted an impairment assessment.
The carrying amount of the cash generating unit of furniture sale and
consultancy services operation in the PRC was written down to its
recoverable amount of nil based on value in use calculation and an
impairment loss of HK$728,000 (2021: nil) was recognised during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

EROCFTFREREHEHEREHREEE
FERSIREER  AAREEED TG
BE - FEEREHERLZAREEER
CELSBENNEESECERNFEAEE
AEMOBREZAIRE S - A =202246F
3ANA L FE N E #E R B &5 18728,00078
T (20214F = 48 ) »
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continves)  13. ¥13% - BER R HEH (2

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, included in the net carrying amount of 20224 K 2021F3A31H - W% BE &
property, plant and equipment are right-of-use assets as follows: REERDFETREFERAEEEDN T :

Carrying amount Depreciation

RELSE e

For the year

As at As at ended

31 March 2022 1 April 2021 31 March 2022

R20225 20215 B 220225

3A318 4818 3A3MBLEE

HK$000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000

FET FAET FAET

Buildings BgF 13,342 13,560 10,164

Motor vehicles b 21 294 266

Total F 13,369 13,854 10,430

Carrying amount Depreciation

REEH e

For the year

As at As at ended

31 March 2021 1 April 2020 31 March 2021

720214 7 20204F B E20214F

3A318 4718 3ANBLFE

HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000

FET FET FET

Buildings g5 13,560 19,868 11,853

Motor vehicles "B 294 660 366

Total F 13,854 20,528 12,219
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the total additions to right-of- REBZE202F38NEBLFE W% BE
use assets included in property, plant and equipment amounting to LRETRBRECRAREENEFTRES

HK$1,457,000 (2021: HK$1,542,000) which is attributable to buildings. #1,457,0007% 7T (20214F : 1,542,000/ JT) °
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. BEEE
Website Money
development lender
costs  Trademarks licence Total
#9 1k
BE B R A BE REAESR st
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2020 7202054 A1H
Cost (DN 800 5 — 805
Accumulated amortisation RETH# Y (471) (2) — (473)
Net book amount REFHE 329 3 — 332
Year ended 31 March 2021 B Z2021%3831H
IEEE
Opening net book amount FURMFRE 329 3 — 332
Amortisation B (151) (1) — (152)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 178 2 — 180
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3831H
Cost B 7R 800 5 — 805
Accumulated amortisation RETH# Y (622) (3) — (625)
Net hook amount R R 178 2 — 180
Year ended 31 March 2022 B Z£2022534831H
IEFEE
Opening net book amount FYIREFE 178 2 — 180
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —E B A A
(Note 33(c)) (K7 #£33(c)) — — 56 56
Amortisation 8y (62) (1) = (63)
Closing net book amount FREEEFHE 116 1 56 173
At 31 March 2022 A2022%3H31H
Cost Bk AR 800 5 56 861
Accumulated amortisation RETH# Y (684) (4) — (688)
Net book amount REFHE 116 1 56 173
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15. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 and 2021
were as follows:

15. [iE 2 F

20224 K2021E3A3NB B = E M B A A
3R NN

Country/ Place
of incorporation/ Issued and paid- Equity interest held
Name of company establishment up capital by the Company Principal activities
ERERL/ BEITR
NAER RYIER/ % BEBRA KARHEHRE TEEH
2022 yinl
02% wWE

Directly held by the Company

KARNEERE

Tree Investment Group Limited (“Tree Investment’) ~ BVI United States dollar 100% 100%  Investment holding

("USD")1

Tree Investment Group Limited ([ Tree Investment)) % /& 4/ % 5 & E 100% 0% RAEER

Indirectly held by the Company

AAABERE

Tree Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% 100%  Sale, distribution and rental of furniture and

home accessories, consignment sales,
distribution and licencing of intellectual
property rights, the provision of styling and
consulting services and the operation of a
café

REERRF B BT 100% 0w0e  ERRKERGHE  HERAE

FEHE ARRFIRANME
B RERARBARKI LGS
—EmsE

Hong Kong Italiving International Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% 100%  Provision of furniture agency services
'Italiving")

EREFHRERESERAA £ 5000007 7T 100% e RERERERE
(ERBEHER))

TBERZHESERAT PRC Renminbi ("RMB’) 100% 100%  Sale and distribution of furniture and home
Shanghai Italiving International Co., Ltd 500,000 accessories, and the provision of styling
"Shanghai Italiving") (Noze/ and consulting services

LEEEZHESAERRA k! AR #500,0007 100% 0% HERNEEBRZERMAURRES
(LBEBER W) EGPEE]

Tree (China] Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% —  Investment holding

A (RE)ERAT X BT 100% —  REBR

Super Easy Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% —  Provision of consumer loan services

FEREEERAA N 10,0007 7T 100% —  REABEERRHE

Note:  Shanghai Italiving was incorporated on 11 July 2019 as a limited liability
company and as at 31 March 2022, the registered capital of RMB500,000

(2021: RMB500,000) has not yet been paid.
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SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

All of the above subsidiaries are limited liability companies. The
financial years of the above subsidiaries are coterminous with that
of the Group, except for Italiving and Shanghai Italiving which have
a financial year ending 31 December. The consolidated financial
statements are adjusted for significant transactions or events, including
those between ltaliving and Shanghai Italiving and group companies,
between 1 January and 31 March.

15.

L= NCITE S,
NEFBEWBRARIABRAR - BREBE
FHRE EEBEZHROMBREER2A
MBI LUK B AR B EE R
AEEE B HREWBERREHERK
RPREHAE  BEIVAIBEIANAM
EAEBZHRE LBERERHEHERR
AIETTE ©

GOODWILL 16. B8
The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as follows: FMENEEFEI>TET
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$ 000 HK$000
FET TFE T
Gross carrying amount and net carrying amount: BRI 4B %8 & AR )F RE ¢
At the beginning of year and the end of year REVREFER 23,426 23,426

The carrying amount of goodwill, net of any impairment loss, is allocated
to the cash-generating unit of furniture agency services.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was determined
from value in use calculations based on cash flow projections from
formally approved financial budgets and forecasts covering a five-
year period with an average growth rate of 3.6% (2021: 5.6%). The
cash flows for the subsequent years are extrapolated from the fifth
year using 3% (2021: 3%) growth rate, and discounted using a pre-tax
discount rate of 19.5% (2021: 20.5%).

Based on the result of the above impairment testing, the estimated
recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount of the
cash-generating unit by approximately 2.5% (2021: 6.0%) as at 31
March 2022. Management is not currently aware of any other possible
changes that would necessitate changes in its key estimates. However,
the estimate of recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is
particularly sensitive to the pre-tax discount rate applied.

As at 31 March 2022, if the pre-tax discount rate increased by 1.0%, an
impairment loss of approximately HK$1,281,000 would be recognised.

CASH SURRENDER VALUE OF LIFE
INSURANCE

The Group has invested in an insurance policy for Ms. Babington, an
executive director and a key management personnel of the Company.
The Group is the beneficiary of such investment. The carrying amount
represented the cash surrender value of the policy and approximates
its fair value at the end of the reporting date. Details of fair value
measurement are set out in Note 34.6.

17.

BENEESR(CHRREBR) DEE
FERERBORSELEM -

REEEBNRITIE S EEREAER
BT TERBEEXMLENTEE
BEERRIE SRR ERE RF AR
(FHH 1 R E H3.6% (20214F : 5.6%)) © H 1%
FEMBRSRIEEFE AT RHEA3% (2021
F3MBREEE  WEARATTER
19.5% (20214F : 20.5%) #T IR -

LR B ENROE R 1K202F3A4
318 - Be EE BN UL $ 58 B
BEHBEmMESREL25% (20214 1 6.0%) > EIE
BERMILNAEBEMEMATEZE Y
HEARGIRTERNNBEE - A %
REEEEMMNMBFTTRESEHAMAR
AT 4T 3R A LR o

20226 3A318 - W & AT 9T R K £ F
1.0% - Bl &% 2R (E E5 18 471,281,000 7T -

ABRBRNBHNRESEE

AEBEAARRNTESRIEETEA
BBabington X LR E—H R - XEE A
ZERENTHA - FEASHEERENE
HESEE BRBEEBROAALEEE
Ho ARBENGEFIEH MM E346 -
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18.

19.

TREEH

INVENTORIES 18. &8
2022 2021
20225 202148
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Finished goods X oh 9,242 9,555
Goods in transit T Em 1,107 2,263
10,349 11,818
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. EZREMEKRIRIE
2022 2021
20225 202148
Notes HKS$ 000 HK$'000
b 5F FET FE T
Trade receivables ESERRE
From third parties FEWE=7 32,845 43,535
Less: ECL allowance B TEHEERBERE (490) (900)
Trade receivables — net B oW IBFRE (a) 32,355 42,635
Loans receivahles EWRER
From third parties EWE=F 1,050 —
Less: ECL allowance W TEEE BEEEEER — —
Loans receivables — net FEWE FOF 5 (b) 1,050 —
Other receivables H fth pE W 18
Deposits, prepayments and other e BRNRERE
receivables H e W F0E 5,937 8,365
Prepayment to suppliers TRt ER 5K IE 2,689 5,389
Amount due from a related company JiE Yt — Fisd A Bk R GRIB 31c) 18 —
(c) 8,644 13,754
42,049 56,389
Less e
Non-current portion — Prepayments SEmE Yy — W HEE
for acquisition of property, R 5 M &% TR 5R0E
plant and equipment (150) —
Current portion mE IS 41,899 56,389
The directors of the Group considered that the fair value of trade ARBEESRR - BRNE S R H AR

and other receivables are not materially different from their carrying
amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods on their
inception.
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a)

Trade receivables

Majority of the Group’s sale of furniture and home accessories
to its customers are settled by cash, credit cards, or by other
forms of electronic payments (such as EPS). There was no
credit term granted to the customers and distributors, but the
Group allows credit period of 2 to 7 (2021: 2 to 7) days to the
payment vendors and up to 120 (2021: 120) days to customers
of furniture agency services. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding trade receivables to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. Further details on the Group's credit
policy are set out in Note 34.2.

The ageing analysis based on revenue recognition date of the
trade receivables, net of ECL allowance, is as follows:

19. ESREMEVRIRIE R

(a)

B2 EWFIE
AEEREFIELAN RIS HRE
MRERMES ARS8
TR EMETARER (205
B)NK - AEBTERARF X
DEETREEER - L TR
REEEARERERERBER
o BI2E7H (20214 : 227H) &
& %1208 (20214 : 1208) & {5
EH - AEBEZKEBIZEHH
FREHE S EKFRE - AiFE
ERkBBEERE - A HES
LEBETHRST EHELAEE
FEEBENE —PHBH RN
342 o

BHERWKE (HMBERBEES
BREE) 2R mR Bk
oMM

2022 2021
20224 20214F

HKS$ 000 HK$'000

FET FET

0-30 days 0-30H 8,053 6,187
31-90 days 31-90H 6,029 7,262
91-180 days 91-180H 11,5711 17,830
180-365 days 180-365H 696 11,356
32,355 42,635

The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables is as
follows:

B 5 8 U O 10 T8 5 4 B B A IR
BB

2022 2021

2022 20214

HKS$ 000 HK$ 000

FET FET

Balance at 1 April RAF1E R & 5% 900 700
(Reversed)/Recognised during the year FRFER), TR (410 200
Balance at 31 March MIANAME & 490 900
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continved) 19 ESRHEMERRER
(b) Loans receivables (b) EWER
A maturity profile of the loans receivables as at the reporting NIREREMEKRE YT H AR R
date, based on the maturity date, net of ECL allowance, is as N
follows:
2022 2021
20225 202148
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 1 year —FR 1,050 —
The Group's loans receivables were unsecured, interest bearing AREBREWERAEERE  IREFR
at 48% per annum and denominated in HK$. Further details on A% B RIABITTEE - NEEE
the Group’s credit policy are set out in Note 34.2. BHENE— S SH AN 342 ©
(c) Otherreceivables (c) HiupEWFRIE
Included in the Group's deposits, prepayments and other 2022438318 AEEH IR S -
receivables as at 31 March 2022 was rental and other deposits ENREREMERZEBEAERS
of HK$$3,393,000 (2021: HK$4,055,000) and prepayments for % H b % 43,393,00035 7T (20214 -
operating expenses of HK$$1,960,000 (2021: HK$1,574,000). 4,055,000 70) LA R 4% 44 B8 T B 1 2
181,960,000/ T (20214F : 1,574,000/
JT) e
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, no ECL allowance was FA20224 2021463 A31H » W R
recognised. TEHEEEEHE -
20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 20 RITHRBRRS
Bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit WITEHEBENSAERTEARANXRIZ ZE
rates. FlZ&zt 8 o

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR B FR A & Annual Report £ %k 2022



21.

125

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 IFF /&

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

BES R EMENRE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HKS$'000 HK$ 000
b 5F FET FET
Trade payables BEZEMNRE
To third parties ERNE=7 () 114 4,147
Other payables H{h e+ R 1E
Accrued charges and other payables et B Ak A ENFKIE (b) 5,018 4,136
Amounts due to related parties JiE 1< B B 5 3ROB 31c) 101 30
Consideration payable JERRE c) 10,304 17,304
15,423 21,470
23137 25,617

All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of the
Group's trade and other payables as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 were
considered to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

(a)

(b)

(c)

FTERBEY AR ALEAXEENESIR
E b fE S RRIE 20224 R 20214E3A318 &Y
BREEHRAEAAABEMNASEILIE -

Trade payables (a) EZENNIE
There was no credit period granted by the suppliers of the Group. AEEHNHERTERLEER -
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as ZHENFRIEBENEZHBANKRE
follows: ST
2022 2021
2022 202148
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FE T
0-30 days 0-30H 5,922 3,412
31-90 days 31-90H 1,616 590
Over 90 days 90H M £ 176 145
1,14 4147
Accrued charges and other payables (b) EFERARAEMENKE
Accrued charges and other payables mainly consist of salaries EstERARHEMENREBETZERSR
payable and other accrued expenses. ek EMEGTHAE -
Consideration payable (c) ERKE

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the amount represents
the redesignation of contingent consideration payable as
consideration payable (Note 32) based on the audited results
of Italiving for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
respectively. Consideration payable remained unpaid as at
31 March 2022 and 2021, respectively, was included in other
payables.

20225 K 202153 A318 » Z & ED
RlIEE R E Z i KB £20214 22020
FRANALEFENCEZEERE
NEARBEHETERENARE (W
7132) o FE T (B 2022 4F 202143
A31BARS A - WEFTAE M ER

THIE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. EHEE
2022 2021
20225 202148
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Contract liabilities arising from advance payments JEW & i HE A 0 A 4
from customers =K 8,086 11,988
Contract liabilities arising from gift vouchers sold & & H {8 Kk & B 19 12 %4
but not yet redeemed EENEHNERE 125 150
8,211 12,138
Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arose from the advance AEBMNEHNBEZERGRFEMNR
payments made by customers while the underlying products or services i A6 B8 2= oo 3k AR 7% i R 1R 1 o 72022483
are yet to be provided. The decrease of contract liabilities as at 31 RAIBWEHNEERY  FE2EERNEAR
March 2022 is mainly due to the decrease in advance payments from HERLSRPEMNZBL -
customers as a result of less sales made during the year.
Contract liabilities outstanding at the beginning of the year amounted to F Y]k 18 8 A £12,138,0007 T (20214 -
HK$12,138,000 (2021: HK$4,680,000) have been recognised as revenue 4,680,000 L) AN BECRNE E2022F
during the year ended 31 March 2022. SASVHEFEER AW E -
23. BANK BORROWINGS 23. RITEE
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, all of the Group's bank borrowings are R20224F K 202138310 - AEBE AR
unsecured, contain a repayable on demand clause and are shown under TEEHREER BERERKEED
current liabilities. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s bank G TRRDEETIIR - B202F K
borrowings, based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan 20213 A31H - ERER B EMETEl
agreements, were repayable as follows: ERAE  AEERMRITEEAENTYE
HEE -
2022 2021
20225 202148
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Within one year —F A 6,493 7,717
In the second year £ — 1,040
6,493 8,757
The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are considered to be a HITEENEEeEEERAAABEDY
reasonable approximation of their fair values. AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 IFF /&

LEASE LIABILITIES 24,

The analysis of the remaining contractual maturities of the Group's lease
liabilities is as follows:

HEEE
AEEHEBBERTAOINHBEN DTN
T

2022 2021
20224 202148
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Total minimum lease payments: SEEETRBE -
— Due within one year K —F A E 9,137 8,614
— Due in the second to fifth years RE_FEERAFHH 5,804 5,785
14,941 14,399
Future finance charges on lease liabilities HEBBEMNARTB D (496) (594)
Present value of lease liabilities HEABEWRE 14,445 13,805
Present value of minimum lease payments: EHEENKHWIEE:
— Due within one year M —F A2 H 8,905 8,153
— Due in the second to fifth years RE_FEZERFHH 5,540 5,652
14,445 13,805
Less: Portion due within one year included under ~ J3i: MEBBEBE TR —F A
current liabilities E| BRI E) 2B > (8,905) (8,153)
Portion due after one year included under non- RBBEE TR —F&
current liabilities EHRE) 2B 9 5,540 5,652

As at 31 March 2022, lease liabilities amounting to HK$14,445,000
(2021: HK$13,805,000) are effectively secured by the related underlying
assets as the rights to the leased asset would be reverted to the lessor
in the event of default by repayment by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the total cash outflows for the
leases are HK$10,730,000 (2021: HK$12,831,000).

20226 3A31H - $£14,445,00078 7T (2021
F:13,8050008 L) MEEAEMS - AR
WASERRER  AHEEENEFR
BEELEA WER EURABEEFER
o

REZEZ2002F383BEFE - BHERS
o E %8 A £ 510,730,000 T (20214F ¢
12,831,00078 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

24. LEASE LIABILITIES (continved) 2. HEEB®)
Details of the lease activities HEFTHFE
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group has entered into leases for R2022F N 2021F3A31H - AEEREE
warehouse, office and shop premises, motor vehicles and staff quarter MAZ 54 - AERBIBESFILUT
as follows: ME:

Financial statements items

Types of of right-of-use assets Range of remaining
right-of-use assets included in Number of leases lease term Particulars
EREEERBN
EREEERE BBHRER HEHYE #$THYEE E3r
Warehouse, office and shop ~ Property, plant and equipment  7(2021: 5) 1to 3 years e Not contain any renewal and termination
premises (2021: 1 to 3 years) options

e Some of the contracts contain additional
variable lease payments depends on the
gross receipts during the contract period

RE BREREH WE BERRE 7mE 5 1EIF o TREAMNEBRELERE
Q01%F 1235F) o BPANBEENTERERNT
SERTEOANMBRANE

Motor vehicles Property, plant and equipment ~ 3(2021: 3) 1to 2 years e Al of the contracts contains an option to
(2021: 2 to 3 years) purchase the motor vehicles at the end of
the lease term
AE NE BER&E 3(WNE:3)  1EE o 2HENEERHBATHEREERS
(20215 : 2E23F) BAEmEEE
Staff quarter Not applicable as short-term Nil (2021:1) N/A o Not contain any renewal and termination
lease recognition exemptions (2021: 6.5 months) options
under HKFRS 16 applied
EIR® FEREAMBRERR TOQE:1) THEA o THREMERRKILERE
F6H T2 REHER (2015 : 6518 )
REBemrER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. DEFERRED TAXATION

The movement in the deferred tax assets during the year is as follows:

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 IFF /&

25. E#EFi1E
NAERE BEEHEEENESHNT:

HK$'000

T T
At 1 April 2020 72020484 918 16
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) RIE R (M 779) 106
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 $20214E3 A318 2021464 A 1R 522
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) I8 = B R (MY 779) (56)
At 31 March 2022 7202238318 466

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting
of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during the year is as

follows:

Deferred tax assets

EEBEEE

Accelerated

FA - EER -G E B RN SRR
BEEMBEEERAGBHESHNT:

accounting
depreciation Provision Total
mMERETITE B “@ st
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FE T
At 1 April 2020 7202064 A1H 351 115 466
Recognised in profit or loss RIBEER 50 33 83
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 32021453 A318

20154 A41H 401 148 549
Recognised in profit or loss RIE SRR 3 (68) (65)
At 31 March 2022 72022538318 404 80 484

Deferred tax liabilities EEBEEE
Accelerated tax
amortisation
3R Bt 18 8
HK$ 000
FE T
At 1 April 2020 72202054 A1H (50)
Recognised in profit or loss RE=ER 23
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 MR2021F3A31H M 202194 A1H (27)
Recognised in profit or loss RE=ER 9
At 31 March 2022 R2022453A318 (18)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. BRA
Number of shares HKS$000
% & B FET
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 720204418 - 20214638318 -
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 2021 418 K& 20229F3A31H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid ERTLHE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 7202044 A18 - 2021438318 -
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 2021 418 & 202293 A31H 1,584,000,000 15,840
27. RESERVES 2]. ##E
(a) Share premium (a) BR#BEE

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company may be applied for payment
of distributions or dividends to the shareholders provided that
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(b) Capital reserve

Capital reserve arises from capital contribution by a shareholder

of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 IFF /&

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the written resolution of shareholders dated on 5 January
2018, a share option scheme was adopted by the Company and is valid
and effective for a period of 10 years from 5 January 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit
and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entity").

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes adopted by the
Group shall not exceed 30% of share capital in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Group) to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of share capital in issue as at the date on
which dealings in the Company's shares first commence on the Stock
Exchange, being 158,400,000 shares (the “General Scheme Limit").

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group shall not exceed 10% of share capital in issue as at the date
of approval of the limit.

28.

URODABERNBEERS

1B B H A20185-1 A5 A AR R 2 T SR =%
ROAQRIRMN—EERESE AKX
8 5 8201851 A58 A2 51104 ([88 &% # 51
2o

BEEFIEEZARERNAERZEE
ROBRE (FRARSHAKEIELRER
MBI REER R REAEERERS
BERExEEIWSIHAKEXAREIT
MK B AR B EFBRENERER (R
EERBDAEENANER -

RRIEBERETE R A SERAN T
MEMBEREFSCEREMAFITED
EHAERTEEREETEMAEITH
REROBE  THEBTEIEHTRA
#930% °

EREEREATE A EE T W H M
BE AT B 1S T 4% A 2 36 B B A (Bh e i
T AREREERETERAEEEM
H b B AR HE R B AR SR K A BB AR )
BETEmMARITHRG A8 - 6 XT 5B
BRARRARIBRNBE XN EBRIMHAREES
A 817 R A #910% (B1158,400,000/% A% 17)
((—MReTEIPRED -

BRIEEADRRELE - TEIREIEREK
Tt & R AN 5 BT ] H BB RS A A 2B
FREMNZ2BEREETEMAIEITH
Ripiag - TNMEBBENMEREZHEH
TR EI10% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

28.

year ended 31 March 2022 & £ 202238318 IFF [Z

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each eligible participant who accepts the offer
for the grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”)
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of issued share capital for
the time being. Where any further grant of options under the Share
Option Scheme to a grantee would result in the shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and proposed to be granted
to such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of share capital in
issue, such further grant shall be separately approved by shareholders
in general meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

The subscription price in respect of any option shall be at the discretion
of the directors, provided that it shall not be less than the highest of
(a) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of
the Company’s shares on the offer date; (b) the average closing price of
the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheets for trade in one or more board lots of the Company's shares for
the five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the
nominal value of the shares.

No option was granted under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 March
2022 and 2021 and during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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AEBEAEMERETSEREONER
B (BROITEICRTTEBRE) EITEM
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EREBRENEONAERSEE (&
BADBETHRNDEE  THBEREERD
BATRRE91% = fis AR 4% 8 A 4 5t 81 ) 7
BAE-—TIREHBRBEBEERRESE
—SREEHBREER(BEZB)AL
2EAHE RREEREASRAEE
TMEMBEREASCEREZRRZA
IREME2HNBREREDTRE B
HRARITEBRE) ETEMESHTRS
FITORRD - AHEBBEBITRA% -
AE— PRI ARBRELSALBRRR
BRREERTHAE  MEARARELE
BHRBEAEMZARARBEAL A
HEBBA)BMEBERRE -

TABEENZBEERRESHNBERE -
HERFERATERFNESE @R
BHOBEH BMIXAEAREXRLEE—F
SN ERBEEFEMNANRB RO AT
BARRRR DB HE: R EZEEHBEH
FIAEEER BXAEARERMES
—FHANELEBEEEUNARF RN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 IFF /&

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  29. 72 &) B9 Bf % ik i 3%

COMPANY
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FETT FE T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ERBARMEE 20,249 20,249
Intangible assets BEEE 7 15
20,256 20,264
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments B IR 210 233
Amount due from a related company JE W — & B B 2 &) BB 18 —
Amount due from subsidiaries AN ENGIE O 7,964 14,144
8,192 14,377
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables HAbET 3R E 859 543
Net current assets RBEERE 7,333 13,834
Net assets FEE 21,589 34,098
EQUITY =
Share capital & A 15,840 15,840
Reserves (Note) ik 1 (H 77) 11,749 18,258
Total equity R 21,589 34,098

202256270 & = =g MR E T

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 June

2022. % o
Tong Tang Joseph Tsui Wing Tak
B ®hEE
Director Director
EF EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 29. AT W # iR R &R (@)
COMPANY (Continued)
Note: B it -
The movement of the Company's reserves are as follows: ARARKEEESHOT:
Share Accumulated
premium* losses Total
B 15 5% E > 23 BB st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2020 202054 A1H 51,813 (29,966) 21,847
Loss and other comprehensive expense 4 A &5 18 & H {th 2 M 1 %
for the year — (3,589) (3,589)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 20213 A318 k2021418 51,813 (33,555) 18,258
Profit and other comprehensive income & A& FI| }& H ftb & 1 U &5
for the year — 6,163 6,163
Dividend paid [EERE s — (12,672) (12,672)
At 31 March 2022 M2022F3A31A8 51,813 (40,064) 11,749

Share premium represents (i) the excess of the proceeds from issuance

of the shares of the Company over its par value, net of share issuance
expenses; and (i) the difference between the carrying value of Tree
Limited acquired in prior years over the nominal value of the share capital
of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

30. COMMITMENTS

(a)

Lease commitments

B £ 34 (B 45 (i) R 2 5] 8 17 B0 O FT 18 3R
HBEEEENRD RO ETH
) R(iBEFEWEREBRARN
BRTE(E B AR RME R M 3 1T MR
AEEWEZHE -

30. &IE

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the lease commitments for short-

term leases are as follows:

(a)

HE&AIE
20224 K 2021F3831H © HF &
MMAERENT:

2022 2021

20225 20214F

HKS$'000 HK$ 000

FET FET

Within one year —FR — %

Details of these lease are set out in note 24.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

31.

(b) Capital commitments

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 IFF /&

30. EIE 2

(b) BEREIE
2022 2021
20225 20214
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FETT FAE T

Contracted but not provided for:
— Property, plant and equipment

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in these

EETA B RS
— W% BERE

150 —

N. EEAIRXS
BUSEARERE LML RENR

consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following material 5/ ERZN  REB BT BETT

transactions with related parties: TNERKRS:

(a) Name and relationship with related parties (a) BEAINERE BBEBE
During the vyear, the related parties that had transactions with RAFE HEAEBEETRZHEHE
the Group were as follows: BT

Name of related parties

Relationship with the Group

BEENEE BB B @M E R

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph A director of the Company

B & RREES

Mr. Han Yi Director of a subsidiary of the Group

BRELE REE-—MWBARINES

AE Majoris Business Development Company Limited Controlled by Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, a director of the Company
AACEERERAF RARAEFREABAEES

AE Majoris CPA Limited Controlled by Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, a director of the Company
AE Majoris CPA Limited EXARREEHAREEES

Rothley Investment Limited (“Rothley”)
Rothley Investment Limited ([Rothley])

Controlled by Ms. Babington, a director of the Company
52 KX B % % Babington 22 3% #
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, during the year, the transactions with related parties
of the Group carried in the ordinary course of business were as

BEBMAERSE)
b) EEBINRS

BRALGRE M BRI EME DR E
ES FARNAREBBEFRER
SHEBBTETHNZZWT:

follows:
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET T T
AE Majoris Business Investor and public HEERNHEBRER
Development Company relationship service Ak 75 % *
Limited fee”
PAREEERBRAF 200 1,200
AE Majoris CPA Limited Accounting service fee* & 5T RIS &>
AE Majoris CPA Limited 428 —

*

These related party transactions constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

* ZE R T X 51 R GEM AR Al
E_TEMRENBEIH LT

(c) Amounts due from/(to) related parties (c) FEWL (FEAY)BAEES FRIB
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET F&ET
Other receivable H A fE R IE
Rothley Rothley 18 —
Other payables Hith e 1E
Mr. Han Yi BHEEE (51) (30)
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph BEELE (50) —

Amounts due from/(to) related parties are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 31.

(c)

(d)

137

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 IFF /&

Amounts due from/(to) related parties

(Continued)

The maximum outstanding of amounts due from related

BEAIRZ e

(c) FEW ~(FEAT) R EE TS FRIH

(%)

FRARKBB I RENRS KE

parties during the year is as follows: EeBEMOT
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$000 HK$ 000
FET FET

AE Majoris Business Development Company B A > ¥ 2% & A E A A

Limited — 1,200
Rothley Rothley 18 14

Key management personnel remuneration
Key management of the Group are members of the board of

directors and senior management. Key management personnel

d) ETEEEANEHMH

FEENTEERRERRESTE RS
REREKE - FTEBEEABHH

remuneration includes the following expenses: BREATNEERSZ:
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FAET FET
Salaries and allowances e koER 7,185 3,622
Discretionary bonus BB 4L 190 127
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RAKAE A ET R R 36 54
741 3,803
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32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE

On 14 December 2018, Tree Investment, a subsidiary of the Group,
Perfect Bright Management Company Limited, an independent third
party, and Mr. Han Yi, entered into a sales and purchase agreement
(the “Sales and Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Group agreed to acquire the entire share capital of Italiving (the
“Acquisition”). The Acquisition was completed on 31 December 2018
(the “Completion Date”).

Pursuant to the terms of the Sales and Purchase Agreement, the total
consideration for the Acquisition (the “Purchase Consideration”)

comprised:

(a)

(b)

Cash consideration

(i)

(ii)

upon completion, a sum of HK$3,000,000; and

within three months from the Completion Date, a sum of
HK$3,500,000;

Contingent consideration

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ending 31 December 2019, provided
that the net profit before tax of Italiving for the year
ending 31 December 2019 is not less than HK$5,200,000,
a sum equals two times of the net profit before tax of
[taliving minus HK$6,500,000 paid under (a)(i) and (a)(ii)
above;

within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ending 31 December 2020, provided
that the net profit before tax of Italiving for the year
ending 31 December 2020 is not less than HK$6,200,000,
a sum equals 1.8 times of the net profit before tax of
Italiving; and

within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ending 31 December 2021, provided
that the net profit before tax of Italiving for the year
ending 31 December 2021 is not less than HK$9,300,000,
a sum equals 1.4 times of the net profit before tax of
[taliving.
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32.

BAHARARKE

20185128148 K & B W B A A
Tree Investment * %8 32 % = J5 Perfect Bright
Management Company Limited £2 §% 3 4t 4 5737
EEpE(EEME] Bt AEEHMA
BEWEEEERZERN 2 HBRA(THES
B o WESEEE R2018F12A3H ([K
BEID) ST ©

RIEFEEHEOGR  WEFENERE
(BEREDBE:

ag FEERE
() PATEACEF » 143,000,0007%5 T

®
i) BERBHLF=@EAR X
543,500,000 7T :

b  WARE

(i) BEEEZHRE 2019512
ANALFEMEEZEER
B —EAR  MEBEE
HREZ2019F12ANALFE
9 B B BT 43 F “F 4> 525,200,000
B AENHEEREEER
R B B A48 R B 265 8 £ X
(a)(i) % (a)(ii) T8 T~ 3Z 15 #96,500,000
BT S E:

i) BEBEZMHREE2020F12
ANALEFEMLEZEER
HEEsr—EAR  MEEEE
HREE2020F 12838 IEFE
®) B B4 AT 4L 7 S 2> 526,200,000
B XN HEEREBEE
R BB AT AL A 18 B @
N

i) BEBEZHREZE2021F12
ANALFEMLEZEER
HEsr—EAR  MEEEE
HREE2021F12ANBIEFE
/9 B B AT 43 F 7 2> 529,300,000
BT AIZXNHEEREEEE
K BR B AT AR A aaE e &
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32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE

(Continued)

Notwithstanding the aforementioned payment schedule, Tree
Investment shall not be under any obligation to pay a sum exceeding
HK$40,000,000 in aggregate as the Purchase Consideration or when the
above obligation has been discharged.

The fair value of the contingent consideration payable represents the
present values of the Group's probability-weighted estimates of the
cash outflows. It reflects management’s estimates of the probabilities
that the net profit before income tax of Italiving for the years ending 31
December 2020, 2021 and 2022 will be achieved and the discount rates.

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of contingent consideration payable
based on the audited results of Italiving for the year ended 31 December
2021 was nil and the fair value change of HK$3,362,000 was recognised
in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2022.

As at 31 March 2021, contingent consideration payable based on the
audited results of Italiving for the year ended 31 December 2020 of
approximately HK$17,304,000 was redesignated as consideration
payable and was included in other payables (note 21) and the fair value
of contingent consideration payable based on the performance forecasts
of Italiving for the year ending 31 December 2021 of approximately
HK$3,362,000 was included in non-current liabilities. The consideration
payable of HK$7,000,000 was settled during the year ended 31 March
2022.

32.

BN ARARE 2

T E SRS - EABEREL
RE TR - Tree Investment i B E ] &
£ X 7 %8 38 & 140,000,000 T ©

BNIRAREBEAABEEAEER SR L
MR NEGGTENEE RBEEEEY
BEBEBZHRGRE 220209 - 2021F &
02FNANBLEFEEENBRATE A
WA RARITIE RN -

R2022%43R318 - ERXBABEZERER
021 F12ANBIEFENLCEZEENEN
IAREANEBEARAT  MBE2022F3A4
JIBLEFEMBERNEERAABES
3,362,000 7T ©

M2021F3A31H - RBEBEZHRESR
00FN2ANBEFENRKEZEEAFNE
B4 JIE 1 3K SR X 18 4917,304,00078 T E T 38 F
BEMAE  Wat A E b 08 (M 5
21) > MIREEBEZHRE E20219F128
JBLEFEMRBRERNGTENEMS SRR
&~ 7t {8 {8 493,362,00078 7 Al sF A JER B
B & 70000008 THRERMNRECREZ
202F3ANAILFEEN -
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 33. MEBEHRERMKE
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (a) METBHFELEBNYHE

financing activities
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing

AEENBERHMELANEEE

activities can be classified as follows: BoEmT:
Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings Total
HEAaE RITEE Mt
HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2020 720204818 20,210 5,704 25,914
Cash-flows: ReERE:
Proceeds PR 1§ 38 39,209 39,209
Repayments B — (36,156) (36,156)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEABENEXRIT D (11,859) — (11,859)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEHEBENF B (900) — (900)
Interests paid A5 F B — (410) (410)
Non-cash: B
Entering into new leases RIMEEE 1,642 — 1,542
Modification of lease terms & & & T 4,003 — 4,003
Interests expenses F B X 900 410 1,310
COVID-19-related rent concessions 2 U CoVID-19/8 BE 7 &
received (note 7) BB (T aE7) (91) — (91)
At31March 2021 and 1 April 2021  }2021538318 &
202144518 13,805 8,757 22,562
Cash-flows: BERE:
Proceeds Fr 18 338 — 21,369 21,369
Repayments B — (23,633) (23,633)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEBBENWERE D (10,033) — (10,033)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEBENNEND (609) — (609)
Interests paid [RENEIPSN — (240) (240)
Non-cash: FBES:
Entering into new leases FIMEHEE 1,457 — 1,457
Modification of lease terms & 2 E &% 9,216 — 9,216
Interests expenses F B X 609 240 849
At 31 March 2022 A2022%3831H8 14,445 6,493 20,938
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

33. mEBHRERERMT 2

Non-cash transactions (b) ¥(REXRS
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered REE202F3A3NAEFE &g
into certain lease contracts in which additions to right-of-use FIVETHESY Bt NHEER
assets and lease liabilities amounting to HK$1,457,000 (2021: MAEERNISEERAEEELEE
HK$1,542,000) was recognised at the lease commencement date. B {&1,457,0007 7T (20214F : 1,542,000
TT) °
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group renewed REBE202F383BIEFE A&
certain (2021: nil) lease contracts which increased right-of-use BEEELTQNF - EMHHEES
assets and lease liabilities amounting to HK$9,216,000 (2021: nil) H-REEERBHENFERESE
at the lease modification date. B &7 & & 1&9,216,000/%8 7T (20214 -
=)o
Acquisition of assets through acquisition of a (c) EBWE—RBWEQTWE
subsidiary BE
In January 2022, the Group acquired 100% equity interest 20221 A - A8 5 [ LA 42X {8 50,000
in Super Easy Finance Limited from Mr. Tong Tang Joseph, a BLTRARFREETEEXRENRES
director of the Company, at a total consideration of HK$50,000. EAEZEBRAF00%EL -
Super Easy Finance Limited held a money lender licence and its SEREEBRARFAREAR
principal activity is the provision of consumer loan services. The B FEZEFHRARBREEBEEERR
acquisition was recognised as an acquisition of assets, rather HeoBEKRENERAEERE
than a business combination, given that substantially all of the MIEXEBENH RERBEENR
fair value of the gross assets is concentrated in a group of similar KEDAARBEEFR —ABUN
identifiable assets (i.e. the money lender licence). AR EEBMEARR) -
The identifiable of assets and liabilities acquired at the date of U BE B B EY) BT U B AT 3 B B E
acquisition comprise the following: BEBRETIEE:
HK$'000
FET
Intangible assets (Note 14) wmEEE K E14) 56
Other payables H b fE TR E (6)
Total consideration paid in cash NIRE TR RE 50
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

34.

year ended 31 March 2022 & £ 202238318 IFF [Z

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency risk). The Group's
overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is
carried out by the senior management of the Group and approved by the
board of directors. There has been no change to the types of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risks.

34.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position relate to the following categories of financial
assets and financial liabilities:

4. BIBEBEERAAEBENE

AEEREARXBBREMRE ST E
AEmMITAMAEMBRR - LEHHR
REXEERR RBESRBEMSE
@ (BRAEERRINERR) - NEE
EREREERBSLEEREEAE
BOMBRAEXRNEBENNEE - &
BEBRASENGRERBBETLLE
EZEHE  ARERERMTRAAENAR
BRAFHEERERAERRN T ALES
1t »

N TMEER AENER
EGAMBRARTRIINERS
BENUTEANSREERSRE
B AR -

2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRBREAALEBEIED
— Cash surrender value of life insurance ~ — AZREHABHOR S EE 1,913 1,847
Financial assets at amortised cost HH#HENYENSRMEE
— Trade and other receivables — B R HMEWKFIE 37,366 49,662
— Bank balances and cash —RTTEHRERS 22,185 29,140
61,464 80,649
Financial liabilities EA R
Financial liabilities at FVTPL FRBEREAAEBEINED
TRAE
— Contingent consideration payable — ER S ARE — 3,362
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HH#HENAYENERAE
— Trade and other payables — B 5 K H M EMNKRIE 22,224 24,733
— Bank borrowings —iRITEE 6,493 8,757
— Lease liabilities —MHEEE 14,445 13,805
43,162 50,657
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)

34.2 Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash and
bank deposits and trade receivables, loans receivables and other
receivables. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets is limited to the carrying amount at
the reporting dates as summarised below:

34 BKEREERAABETE
(#)
2 EERAR

AEBBEB S RBTFRARE

5 FE USRI - UK B R R E A E UK

REABREERR - AEER SR

BEAFNRACERBRTERAT

YHBRARBERNEEEE:

General approach

Simplified —BER

approach Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BAER B B B B2 B £23 @t
HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
FET FET FAET FET FET

At 31 March 2022 M20223A31H
Trade receivables ECLE ¢ 32,845 — — — 32,845
Loans receivables JE W & * — 1,050 - - 1,050
Other receivables ity W R — 3,961 - — 3961
Bank balances and cash BUEBREAS — 2185 — — 2,185
32,845 21,196 — — 60,041

At 31 March 2021 R0NEF3A3H
Trade receivables BHEWHIE 43,535 — — — 43535
Other receivables Hh Y 508 — 7,027 — — 7,027
Bank balances and cash BITEBLEAS — 29,140 — — 29,140
43535 36,167 — — 79,702

(i)  Trade receivables
The Group's policy is to deal only with credit worthy
counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new
customers after a credit worthiness assessment made.
Payment record of customers is closely monitored. It
is not the Group's policy to request collateral from its
customers.

(i)

B S REWRR

AEENBEREREGERL
MRXZEFETRS - HEF
ABBEREERMGEER A
ERERGR - AREZYE
HEFPHN R - AEED
BRI EEREFRMEM

]
oA °
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)

In addition, as set out in Note 2.10, the Group assesses
ECL under HKFRS 9 on trade receivables under simplified
approach based on provision matrix, the expected loss
rates are based on the payment profile as well as the
corresponding historical credit losses during that period.
The historical rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the
customer’s ability to settle the amount outstanding.
At each reporting date, the historical default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed. However, given the short period exposed
to credit risk, the impact of these macroeconomic factors
has not been considered significant within the reporting
period.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Failure to
make payments within 365 days from the invoice date and
failure to engage with the Group on alternative payment
arrangement amongst other is considered indicators of no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

As at 31 March 2022, ECL allowance of HK$$490,000
(2021: HK$900,000) was recognised for trade receivables
from the furniture agency services segment at ECL rate
of 0.2% (2021: 1.0%) for trade receivables that are not
yet past due, 0.2% (2021: 2.7%) for trade receivables that
are past due within 90 days, 0.3% (2021: 5.1%) for trade
receivables that are past due within 91 to 180 days, 0.4%
(2021: 9.8%) for trade receivables that are past due within
181 to 365 days and 100.0% (2021: 100.0%) for trade
receivables that are past due over 365 days.
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BEEAN R - AR ARREEARE
ERERARZHERRE -
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IR -

20224638318 - RERE R
D B #20.2% (20214F = 1.0%)
(A ESEkRxRE) -
0.2% (20214F : 2.7% )@ HA90 B A
K E 5 EIE) ~ 0.3% (2021
F:51%)( BN EIIB0HRNE
2 FE W FIE) ~ 0.4% (20214 :
9.8%)(# HA181E3H A B 5
JE Ug 2 3E) £2100.0% (20214F :
100.0%) (31 HA365H LA FEV B 5
JEWHB)NBHEEEEXR
NEDENFBERBLHEE
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, no ECL allowance was
recognised for trade receivables from the furniture sale
and consultancy services segment.

As at 31 March 2022, 91.1% (2021: 84.3%) of the total
gross trade receivables was due from a customer arisen
from the furniture agency services segment.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include loans
receivables, other receivables and bank balances
and cash. In order to minimise the credit risk of loans
receivables and other receivables, the management would
make periodic collective and individual assessment of the
recoverability of loans receivables and other receivables
based on historical settlement records and past
experience as well as current external information and
adjusted to reflect probability-weighted forward-looking
information, including the default rate where the relevant
debtors operates. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

In addition, for loans receivables, all loans are subject to
credit assessment including obtaining the credit reports
of the borrowers and the guarantors, and have to be
approved by the management. The management reviews
regularly the recoverable amount of loans receivables by
taking into account of the market conditions, customers’
profiles including any significant changes in the payment
status of the borrowers and quality of third-party
guarantees to ensure that adequate impairment is made
for the irrecoverable amounts.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 general approach to
measure the expected credit losses for other financial
assets at amortised cost.

. BBEABEERAAEBENE

(%)

M2 EERK#)

(i)

(ii)

BESEWREEZ)
20224 K201 3A31H - A
FEVERREHE RFHAR
BoEE S EKFIBERE
HiEEBEHE -

R202243A8318 B 5 E W
FRIB MR 911% (20214 ¢
84.3%) & FE WURE R 1B RIE 5
H—R2EPHRIE -

BRERAFIIRNE S E
BE
BREBERATENEMSRE
EEREERER - HibE YK
HIARBRITHEBERS - RE
SRR FE B R R HAth B MR
EMEERR  EEEBER
BEBELHERAELRUR
ERNEER - EHYHRKE
R e EL A W R IR ) AT Uk [B] 1
ETHRRRMER G - LR
B DA S R ABE R o0 T HE 1 B R
(BRAEBEBAREMED
BHE)  ARBENCEREMD
EiERF  UHERERERRET
B U OB HES -

o - B ER 2 BRETE
B BRBUSERARE
RANEERS  WAKLERE
B A - BEEETEMEHEY
EXMA ko EPEk
mR - FEEHR - BREERA
NRARANERESHRE=T
BEROER  BERRETATKRE
EEFTIRRAME -

AEBEBEBMBEHREER
FORH— R A AFHER
BERATIRNEMEREE
MEREREER-
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4. BXEEREERAAEBEITE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved (%)
34.2 Credit risk /continued) 2 ERK#)

(ii)  Otherfinancial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

The management is of the opinion that there is no
significant increase in credit risk on loans receivables and
on other receivables since initial recognition as the risk of
default is low after considering the factors as set out in
note 2.10 and above and, thus, no loss allowance provision
was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2022
(2021: nil).

The credit risks on bank balances are considered to be
insignificant because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

34.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The
Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade
payables and its financial obligations, and also in respect of its
cash flow management. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants and its relationship with its bankers to
ensure that the Group maintain sufficient reserves of cash and
cash equivalents and committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

Analysed below is the Group's remaining contractual maturities
for its financial liabilities as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. When
the creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled, the
liability is included on the basis of the earliest date when the
Group can be required to pay. Where the settlement of the
liability is in instalments, each instalment is allocated to the
earliest period in which the Group is committed to pay.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR . BBEABEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (&)
34.3 Liquidity risk (Continved) I RBESEKE &)
Within Total
1yearoron Over1year but undiscounted Carrying
demand within5years  Over5years amount amount
MERZ BBIE AR

BER ERER BiBsE BeE  RESE
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FET FET FET FET

At 31 March 2022 R202%3A8318

Trade and other payables EoREMERTE 2,24 — — 224 2,224

Bank borrowings RITEE 6,493 - — 6,493 6,493

Lease liabilities HERRE 9,137 5,804 — 14,94 14,445
37,854 5,804 = 43,658 43,162

At 31 March 2021 2021537318

Trade and other payables BHREMEMRE 24,733 — — 24,7133 24,733

Bank borrowings BITREE 8,757 — — 8,757 8,757

Lease liabilities HEERE 8614 5,785 — 14,399 13,805

Contingent consideration payable B sk AR (B — 3471 — 347 3,362
42,104 9,256 — 51,360 50,657
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F3A31H It F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
34.3 Liquidity risk (Continved)

The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank
borrowings with repayment on demand clause based on agreed
scheduled repayments set out in the bank loan agreements. The
amounts include interest payment computed using contractual
rates. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with the loan
covenants, is up to date with the scheduled repayments of the
loans and does not consider it is probable that the bank will
exercise its discretion to demand repayment so long as the Group
continues to meet these requirements. The directors believe that
these bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the bank loan agreements.

34.

BBEREERAAEETE

MI3IRBELSRERE)

TRIBBRITERIGE AN TS
FEFEREAMAHTFREREER
FRFRMBITEENZIOMN - ZF
ERBEBREAAHNNEAENH S
Ko AEEEHREREIETERZ
AEER X-BEREBENR AR
RABAEEBRBEETZERE
RITHDRATREITE B 1B EK
B -BE2RE ZFROTBES
REBEBRTERBEAMBNEE
HEHEE -

Over 1 year Total
Within 1 year but within undiscounted Carrying
or on demand 5years amount amount
MER BIB1F RITER
RIRER ERFER we IRES
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2022 R202253A31H
Bank borrowings RITEE 6,649 — 6,649 6,493
At 31 March 2021 202153 H31H
Bank borrowings RITEE 7,791 1,063 8,854 8,757

34.4 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in the market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises
primarily from bank borrowings, loans receivables and lease
liabilities. The Group's loans receivables bearing fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk while the Group's
borrowings bearing variable rates and fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate
risk respectively. The exposure to interest rates for the Group’s
short term bank deposits is considered immaterial.
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had increased/decreased by 50 basis points with all other
variables held constant, the profit after income tax would have
been HK$22,000 (2021: HK$28,000) lower/higher and retained
profits would have been HK$22,000 (2021: HK$28,000) lower/
higher.

The assumed changes in interest rates are considered to be
reasonably possible based on observation of current market
conditions and represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rate over the next twelve
month period.

The calculations are based on a change in average market
interest rates for each period, and the financial instruments held
at each reporting date that are sensitive to changes in interest
rates. All other variables are held constant. The sensitivity
analysis included in the consolidated financial statements of the
year ended 31 March 2021 has been prepared on the same basis.

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 BKEREERAABETE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (#)
34.4 Interest rate risk (Continved) 384 MERAB #)
The effective interest rates of the Group's borrowings at the AEENEERREANETRAE
reporting date were as follows: T
2022 2021
20224 202148
Effective Effective
Interest rate HKS$ 000 Interest rate HK$'000
=4 FilpS FET B F E FET
Variable rate borrowings FEREEE
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 4.3% 5,368 4.5% 6,717
Fixed rate borrowings BEEHMEEE
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 4.0% 1,125 4.0% 2,040
— Lease liabilities —HEAaE 3.2-4.1% 14,445 4.0-4.7% 13,805
Total borrowings wIEE 20,938 22,562
Fixed rate borrowings as B EFEEENL
percentage of total BEEASL
borrowings 14% 70%
As at 31 March 2022, if interest rate for variable rate borrowings R2022F3A31H © WZFEFEREER

FEEFTFRRO0EEE - BAfrEH
tHEBRFTE  AIBRAEHE® G
F %5 8L >, H022,0007% 7T (20214F -
28,0007 7T) + (R B % F 5 L, 18 A0
22,0005% 7T (20214F : 28,0007 L) °

RERTIRNEE - FEBR
m@ﬁﬁﬁAﬁT%ﬁ@ 4% 5
EREHAKT_EABEHES
2 A 2 B A o

EHRHEDRES BHATFEMIEH
I“@bu&ﬂﬂ*&iaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ
""""" EHHBRNELRIAET - EH
RN o B 2202193831
HIEFERERE U5 & P& 8%
EATBBEAREERFE -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. KEBREERAAEE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (%)

EI‘I_'
fin

34.5 Foreign currency risk 34.5 SR B

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposures to
currency risk arise from its overseas sales and purchases, which
are primarily denominated in Euro (“EUR") and USD. These
are not the functional currencies of the group entities to which
these transactions relate. The Group has bank balances and
cash, bank borrowings and cash surrender value of life insurance
denominated in foreign currencies, primarily in EUR and USD.

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities,
translated into HK$ at the closing rates, are as follows:

SMEREBR RSB TAN R AEE
FARRRERERAINEEZEFHM
KBNERER AKENEER
BAERBHSIIEERRE =
ZUABT R ETTFE - RTRET
VIIRERM P EBEENIEE
B - AEEBEAUINE(ZERR
TERETT)FHEMRTESRERS -
RITEERASRBOBHREE
&

MINEHENEREERABRE
HEREXHE[/BTHT:

usD EUR
£ BT
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
FET FERT
As at 31 March 2022 7202238318
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRENBORSEE 1,913 —
Trade and other receivables B 5 & B A fE YL FR A 78 30,889
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRIES 486 2,915
Trade and other payables B 5 & HMERMFKIEAE (10) (7,338)
Bank borrowings RITEE — (5,368)
Overall net exposure ERERBARIEFE 2,467 21,098
As at 31 March 2021 7202143 831H
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRENBORSEE 1,847 —
Trade and other receivables B 5 & B A fE UGB 78 39,223
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBRES 969 2,848
Trade and other payables B 5 & H MR FIA — (3,307)
Bank borrowings RITEE — (6,717)
Overall net exposure BERERBAEFE 2,894 32,047

Since HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group's exposure to foreign
currency risk is considered as minimal. The Group is mainly
exposed to the effects of fluctuation in EUR.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 2 iR B FR A & Annual Report £ %k 2022

ERBTEITHS  AREEY
BSNER R R BT RE - AR
EXrEmEBTRBTENRR



191

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 IFF /&

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.5 Foreign currency risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, if EUR had strengthened/weakened
by 10% (2021: 5%) against HK$ with all other variables
held constant, the profit after income tax would have been
HK$1,762,000 (2021: HK$1,338,000) higher/lower and retained
profits would have been HK$1,762,000 (2021: HK$1,338,000)
higher/lower.

34.6 Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into
three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined
based on the observability and significance of inputs to the
measurements, as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly and not using significant
unobservable inputs.

Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

MBRREERAAEBETE

305 ShHE LB ()

72022463 R31H » W BT 5B T £
T T B10% (20214F : 5%) - B A
HmEBHERFTE  ABRAEH
1% 3% ) A% 18 00 UR 421,762,000 T
(20214 : 1,338,000/ JT) * 1R B8 & 7
#5380 38 01,762,000 7T (20214 -
1,338,0008 7T) °

ETMIAENAAREEE

REMBRRARARAABERE
MeEMEERBERERARER
””T%E’JE(IEZ& A RS EE-
REFENBABRBENIEREREE R
EZMRENT:

FIE: HREERABGENERMSNRE
(RIERE) -

FIE: BEREEUVBENEELAES
ABB(TERBEMBENRE)
RAEREATABESAHE -

FIE: BERRENEATAEEGEAY
B

Jm

CREEXNEBBEEENAABER
BAMBHER 2EREQAAE
B 2EEAEREENREERE
ABUE -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (&)
34.6 Fair value measurements of financial UM6ETMTEMNAREBEE
instruments (Continued) (#)

\,m’\ﬁﬂkﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ‘«%ﬂi%ﬁ
NonBEAENEREERARE

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position on a recurring basis

are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows: TEARBEEBFSBENT
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BB F2E 3B et
Notes ~ HK$'000  HKS000  HKS$000  HKS'000
k=3 FET FET FET FAET
At 31 March 2022 1202238318
Financial assets at FVTPL FRBERANEE
IR REE
— Cash surrender value of life — ANERBHELD (a)
insurance HeEE — 1913 — 1913
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BESEANEE
§|J FHEmAas
— Contingent consideration payable —ENSARE (b) = — — =
At 31 March 2021 202193 A31H
Financial assets at FVTPL EREBERRANEE
IR S REE
— Cash surrender value of life — AERBOHBLY ()
insurance HeEE — 1,847 — 1,847
Financial liabilities at FVTPL EREZRANEE
05 3: ofcry=i §=
— Contingent consideration payable —ERSARE (b) — — (3.362) (3.362)

HE2022F K201 F3ANB IEFE
FIE - F2B K FIE 2 H A EE
géf °

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there were no
transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.

ARFEF2EREIBRABEN
TERMERMEBERSHENA
bedt AL WK T X E A -

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose
of measuring fair values categorised in Levels 2 and 3 are
unchanged compared to the previous reporting periods and are
described below.
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instruments (Continued)
Cash surrender value of life insurance

The fair value of the cash surrender value of life insurance
was determined based on the valuation provided by the
counterparty financial institution by reference to the
quoted price of the underlying units held.

(a)

(b)

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & £2022F 38318 IFF /&

(%)

Contingent consideration payable

As at 31 March 2021, the valuation technique and
significant unobservable inputs of the fair value of
contingent consideration payable are as follows:

Valuation technique

fh AR M

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTUBEGABE

MBRREERAAEBETE

UEMTENAAEBEFTE
(%)
) ABRBROBARSEE

ABRBROBORSEBENR
REENRESBEEY T
REMME L2 ERFERE
BUMHHEMEE -

(b) ENIAKRE

R2021E3A318 - &SRR
BAABEMNHERMTEEKXR
RATB R ABRBEOT

Sensitivity relationship of
unobservable inputs to fair value
NABEHATEERE
BABBHNHRERR

Probability-weighted payout
approach

BRI #E SR

Probability of achieving the projected
revenue and net profit before tax of
Italiving for the year ending 31 December
2021

HE2020F2A3B EFEE B
EFHRERBEE K= REBA
HE N B B =

Discount rate

TR

The higher of the probability, the higher of
the fair value, and vice versa

BEME -

AABEBS  R2ZT

The higher of the discount rate, the lower
of the fair value, and vice versa
THREYS  ARBEBE R2
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (%)
34.6 Fair value measurements of financial 6 ERMITANAABETE
instruments (Continued) (&)
(b)  Contingent consideration payable (Continued) (b) EAFIAREE)
The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the Group's AEEBSEEARNBEREES
contingent consideration payable classified within Level 3 SEHENKARENEREES
of the fair value hierarchy is as follows: HEERWOT:
Contingent
consideration
payable
ERRARE
HK$ 000
FHET
At 1 April 2020 7202044 A 18 18,033
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss REZERNALEEZ D 2,633
Reclassification (Note 21(c)) EI OB F2010C) (17,304)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 20213 H318 X 20214 A1H 3,362
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss REZBERANAAEEBEZE (3.362)
At31 March 2022 R20224F3A318 —
Fair value change on contingent consideration payable is JENSHARENAAEESE
recognised in profit or loss. RIBREER -
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 35 EXEE
The objectives of the Group when managing capital are to safeguard the AEEEREANBEEAREARASEERFE
ability of the Group in continuing as a going concern in order to provide WENRE N B ARRTREREAE
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to mEFmERENE  TESTEEARSE
maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value in BUARARERRER -
the long term.
The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and makes AEBEFHFEHBAEREE  THERL
adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. The Group BERASIEEFAE - AEBERBEFE
monitors its capital structure on the basis of the net debt to equity ratio. HEERLREREARNEE - FEEY
The net debt to equity ratio is calculated based on total borrowings B EERZREANLEE(REMR
(including lease liabilities) divided by the total equity at each reporting EBBEBUNBERTE -RBEFIAR
date. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the FLE R REBE TR AR RREIRT AR
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, raise new B BITHRGD  SEHMEKRMEK
debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt. HEBEUWRLDER -
The net debt to equity ratio at each reporting date was: RERSHNFEEEESZL XA
2022 2021
20225 202148
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET F&r
Bank borrowings RITEE 6,493 8,757
Lease liabilities HE&RE 14,445 13,805
Total borrowings REE 20,938 22,562
Total Equity R 62,680 70,395
Net debt to equity ratio FEEHESEE 33.4% 32.1%
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBEME

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements

MBEHRE
ARERBEAENBEENERARKE R
BEMENBRACEREANBERE B

is set out below:

T

RESULTS E
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 0014 2020 20195 20184
HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
FAET FET FET FET FET
Revenue g 95913 120,551 91,103 85,408 79,073
Cost of sales HWEKA (32,391) (46,330} (25,842) (27,497) (25,515)
Gross profit EX 63522 74,221 65,261 57,911 53,558
Other income Hep g A m 4538 155 204 134
Selling and marketing expenses HERMEHERS (33,400) (37,791) (33652) (36,982) (34,128)
Administrative expenses THHEZ (26,775) 18,921) (19,361) (18821) (11,597)
Fair value change on contingent ERZARBORAAEBELS
consideration payable 3,362 (2,633) (3,385) - -
Reversal of provision/(Provision) for BN IBRERE
impairment of trade receivables BE/(BE) 410 (200) (700) - -
Listing-related expenses FHABRAY - - - - (15,747)
Share-based compensation expense DRMDAEROHBERS - - ~ - (656)
Finance costs HBRKA (849) (1,310) (741) (269) 316)
Profit /(Loss) before income tax BRAEHARR(FR) 6,981 17,904 7577 2,043 (8,752)
Income tax expense FERAX (1,751) (3,345) (2,361) (951) (1,350)
Profit /(Loss) for the year attributable FAXAFEZEFA
to equity holders of the Company EEER (H8) 5,230 14,559 5,216 1,092 (10,102)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
025 02145 20205 20195 20184F
HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
FAET FET FET FET FET
Total assets BEE 114,966 138,270 129,128 101,703 64,716
Total liabilities BEE (52,286) 67,875) (73,583) (51,296) (15,401
Total equity BED 62,680 70,395 55,545 50,407 49,315
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